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YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,

(Dollars in thousands, except per
share and apartment unit datn) 2001 % Change 2000 1999 1998
Rental Revenue $ 368,042 0.6 % $ 365,895 $ 318,697 $ 275,755
Other Revenue 30,272 (10.8)% 33,937 27,230 23,150
Total Revenue $ 398,314 (0.4)% § 399832 § 345927 $ 298,905
Net Operating Income* $ 233,014 (5.7)% S 247,020 $ 213,647 $ 181,534
Net Income $ 75159 (15.2)% $ 88,645 $§ 92,642 S 77477
Funds from Operations** $ 133,133 (18.5)% $ 163411 $ 162,581 $ 134,202
Cash Available for Distribution $ 117,031 (20.3)% $ 146,809 § 150,888 § 125225
Per Common Share:
Net Income Available to Common
Shareholders:

Basic S 1.98  (12.0)% S 225§ 241 $ 221

Diluted $ 196 (11.7)% S 222 S 238 $ 2.18
Funds from Operations:**

Basic S 3.08 (16.1)% S 3.67 § 372 % 3.33

Diluted*** $ 3.07  (15.4)% 8 363 § 3.69 § 3.30
Dividends $ 3.12 2.6 % $ 3.04 $ 280 8 2.60
Number of Apartment Units Owned 27,710 28,736 29,032 27,568
Average Economic Occupancy 94.9% (1.9)% 96.8% 96.4% 96.5%

* Net operating income is defined as toral vevenue less operaring expenses beforve depreciation, amovtization and intevest.
** Industry analysts genevally consider funds from operarions to be an appropriate measurve of the performance of an equity REIT.
Funds from operations (“EFO”) represent the consolidated net income of the Company and its subsidiaries for such period, excluding gains ov
losses from debt vestructuring and sales of property, plus depreciation of real estate assets, and after adjustment for unconsolidated partnevships
and joint ventures, all determined on a consistent basis in accovdance with genevally accepted accounting principles. FFO for 1998 have been
restated to veflect the vequivements of the new National Association of Real Estate Investment Trusts definstion of FFO,

*** On a fully diluted basis, FFO, priov to charges of $17.5 million in 2001 and $9.4 million in 2000, weve $3.47 and $3.84 per share, vespectively,

134.4%(140.7% $3.08 ’ $3442. $3.47 | 83.10 $3.30 ’ $3.69 ‘ $3.84 | $3.47 $2.60 ’ $2.80 r $3.04 | S3.12

107.1%

121.3%

Payonr
Ratio

l98 99 o0jo1| [98[99]o0ofor] [98]99]00]01] | 98 [ 99 | 00 | oL |
ToraL RETURN CASH AVAILABLE FUNDS FROM DIVIDENDS
at December 31 FOR DISTRIBUTION OPERATIONS Per share
(Since IPO on July 22,1993, Per share diluted before charges Per share diluted before charges

assu ”li’lg reinvestment

of dividends)
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Post Paseo Colovado

Pasadenn, California

. LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS

To Qur Shareholders

A year ago we said that 2001 would be a transition year for Post as we

initiated a roughly 24-month effort to reposition our business. We’ve made
significant progress and begin 2002 as a leaner, more focused company. Our

accomplishments over the past year include:

Implemented a self-funding strategy — We had solid success raising
capital through asset sales and joint ventures. During the year we sold
six apartment communities containing 2,799 units and one commercial
property for total sales proceeds of $217 million. We achieved a weighted-
average capitalization rate of 8.5% on the trailing net operating income of
the apartment communities we sold. These communities had a weighted-
average age of 14 years. We also raised $18 million of joint venture equity
capital, for a combined total of capital raised in 2001 of $235 million. For
2002, we are targeting between $170 million and $220 million in pro-
ceeds from asset sales and additional equity capital under committed joint
ventures. Regularly selling our older assets provides us with two impor-
tant benefits. First, it allows us to
preserve a low average age of the
portfolio — currently it’s only eight
years. Second, as we sell assets
in sunbelt markets where we are

more heavily concentrated — namely

Atlanta, Dallas, and Tampa — we
can adjust our market concentra-
tions and redeploy capital in more
urban markets such as New York,
Washington, D.C., and Southern

California that have higher barriers

to new development. We believe
that, over time, trading out of older, suburban assets for new, urban assets
in more supply-constrained markets will lead analysts and investors to

reduce the capitalization rate they use to value the Company.
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Scaled back the development pipeline — We moved to substantially
1 reduce both the number of projects in our development pipeline and the
amount of our annual development expenditures. We wrote last year that
,our pipeline at various times had as many as 18 construction projects
underway in 11 separate cities, involving construction spending of over
$600 million. By the end of 2002, our development pipeline will be far
more modest. We anticipate having approximately six projects under con-
struction in only four markets, involving gross expenditures of some $400
million, and with the Company’s share of this cost (after deducting our
joint venture partner’s share) around $250 million. Looking farther out,

we expect to continue to manage our pipeline by undertaking a limited
number of projects at any one time, and targeting annual development

expenditures of $75 million to $150 million. Our decision to ramp down

our activity reflects an acknowl-
edgement not only of recent

challenges with development, Post Midton S,
ost Midtown Square™

but also of the simple fact that Houston, Texas
i ~ we are not finding many oppor-
tunities at this point in the cycle
for sufficiently attractive devel-

opment returns.

s Reduced our workforce and

overhead — During the fourth

quarter of 2001, we took steps

to cut costs, including eliminat-
ing approximately 100 positions across several divisions, largely as a
‘ consequence of scaling back our development pipeline. We expect this to

5 produce annual cash savings in overhead of approximately $7 million.

= Sold ancillary businesses — During the fourth quartef, we also sold our
third-party landscaping and property management divisions to their respec-
tive senior management teams. These businesses did not, of course,
perform landscaping or management functions for our portfolio of Post®
branded apartments, so our capacity to serve our properties and our
residents is undiminished. A reputable valuation consultant with related
industry experience assisted us in determining the purchase price of each
business. We financed each transaction over five years at an interest rate

of 9% per annum. Selling these two businesses reduced our workforce

Post Properties, Inc. 3




LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS

by about 800 emplovees, further lowering
costs in our corporate support divisions. We

Post Peachtree™ also expect to exit a small fee construction divi-

Atlants, Georgia sion in 2002. An important benefit of these

transactions is that they allow us to give 100%
attention to our core business of developing

and operating our apartment communities.

This progress demonstrates our abil-
ity to lay out a plan, make difficult decisions,
and execute them. We are proud of the way
our associates worked with us to execute
these changes.

Although we accomplished a great

deal, there is more to do in the upcoming vear.

Look for ongoing efforts to cut costs, to con-
trol development spending and improve execution, to self-finance through
property sales, primarily in sunbelt markets, and to protect the strength and

liquidity of our balance sheet.

FinanciAaL REsuLTs AND QUTLOOK

On a fully diluted basis, funds from operations (“FFO”), prior to
severance and impairment charges of $0.40 per share, were $3.47 per share, a
. decrease of 9.6% over our result for 2000 before charges of $0.21 per share in
that period. After taking these charges into account, per share FFO for 2001
were $3.07 compared to $3.63 in 2000. As we wrote in last year’s letter, our
expectation for 2001 was for per share FFO in the $3.77 to $3.85 range. While
we made excellent progress repositioning our business, we did not achieve our

operating performance goals.

4 Post Properties, Inc.




Let’s take a look at what happened. Simply put, results for our operating
properties fell well short of our 4% net operating income (“NOI”) growth
expectation as the national economy slid into a recession with particular impact
on several of our markets, notably Atlanta. For our 65 mature Post® communi-
ties, total revenues increased only 1.0% during 2001 while expenses increased
6.4%, resulting in a decrease in NOI for the year of 1.4%. A 1% change in NOI
from these mature communities translates into a $0.05 change in per share
FFO. So the impact of this difference between our 4% growth expectation and
the reality of a 1.4% decline in NOI was to reduce FFO by about $0.25 per
share. And it naturally follows that operating results for our newly built com-
munities and our properties in lease-up were similarly hurt by weaker economic
and market conditions, with a further impact of $0.15 per share, compared to
our expectations.

While economic occupancy at our mature communities averaged
94.9% for the year, a decline of only 1.7% over 2000, the real story is the rapidly

declining conditions that we, along

with many businesses in the country,
experienced in the aftermath of the
tragic events of September 1lth.
Our average economic occupancy
fell about three percentage points
during the fourth quarter alone. As
a result, our mature communities
started the year 2002 at about 91%

average economic occupancy, com-

pared to about 97% a year ago.

Although there is some evidence that the economy is slowly starting to
improve, we would be surprised to see a rapid recovery in our apartment mar-
kets in 2002. With an expectation of relatively low occupancies throughout
most, if not all, of the year, we are projecting that NOI for our mature commu-
nitics may decline as much as 5%, compared to 2001, producing per share FFO
in a range of $3.05 to $3.20. This compares to $3.47 before non-recurring

charges in 2001.

Post Properties, Inc. 5
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LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS

These results are potent reminders, sharper than we expected, that
ours is a cyclical business. And that outperforming oth;rs in a local market can
still lead to disappointing absolute results if that local market experiences weak-
ness. But, as with previous cycles, we are confident that the current cycle will
turn, as national and local job creation resumes. In cycles over the past three
decades, our sunbelt markets have typically felt the eftects of a downturn more
quickly (which has been the case in this cycle), but have been earlier to
rebound. During recovery, we expect to achieve higher than normal growth as
a result of accelerating occupancy and rent growth. It bears noting that a 5%
increase in our occupancy for a full year (that is, a return to average occupancies
of the 1993-2000 period) — even without any increase in rental rates — would
of itself produce a $0.35 increase in our per share FFO.

Post’s portfolio has other strengths that make us optimistic about the
longer-term future. We continue to build among the finest apartment commu-
nities in the industry, to which the pictures in this report attest. These assets will
stand the test of time and, as we’ve written in previous letters, we believe that
their quality and in-fill locations will produce greater appreciation and NOI
growth than their garden-stvle, suburban counterparts. We also constantly

strive to set the standard for cus-

tomer service, building on and

1 ®
Post Uptown Place™ |\ enhancing the value of the Post

1 :[ ) Z\T ~}, 1l 1 . .
Charlosts, North Carolins brand. In satisfaction surveys that

we conduct three times a year, our

residents gave us scores 11.6%

higher in 2001 than in 2000. We

6 Post Properties, Inc.




believe the resulting customer loyalty makes

a difference in lowering turnover, especially
Post West Avenue Lofts™

Austin, Texas

In a more competitive rent environment like

the one we face today.

THE BALANCE SHEET

Anyone who has read any of our

prior letters is aware that we have always
placed great emphasis on maintaining a
strong balance sheet, in part because we
know that our business is cyclical in nature.
And so we are pleased to report that the

balance sheet remains in good order. At year-

end, our outstanding debt totaled $1.3
billion, which represents only 46.6% of the undepreciated book value of our
assets, and our interest and fixed charge ratios were 4.0 and 3.1 dmes, respec-
tively. At this level, we remain solidly an investment-grade credit. Our debt
maturities are staggered, with only $143 million coming due over the next
three vears and just $20 million due in 2002. And we have about $2 billion of
unencumbered properties, giving us the opportunity to take advantage of
attractive rates on traditional mortgage debt. Liquidity remains strong — as in
addition to asset sales proceeds, we have ample credit available under our $525
million revolving credit facilides. Only $166 million was outstanding on these

facilities at year-end.

SHARE REPURCHASE ACTIVITY AND DIVIDENDS

Our practice over the years has been to pay to investors a substantial
share of profits from the business. As profits have grown, so has the dividend.
Before we instituted a self-financing strategy, substantially all of our profits were

generated from the ongoing operation of our properties. Today, we are also

Post Properties, Inc. 7




LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS

harvesting the appreciation in value of those properties through asset sales.

Since an important goal of our asset sales is to achieve greater geographic

diversification in the portfolio, we

are inclined to sell somewhat more

Post Stratford™ than is necessary simply to fund

Atlanta, Georgi -
i Geoge development activity. These excess

asset sales give us the opportunity
to reinvest in other ways.

During 2001, we spent
$87.5 millilon to repurchase
2,370,100 shares of common stock

at an average price of $§36.90. We

will continue to do this over time
where we see opportunites to repurchase shares at prices that are less than our
per share net asset value. Reducing annual development expenditures will free
up more of the proceeds from asset sales for future share repurchases.

At its most recent quarterly meeting, the Board of Directors voted to
maintain the current quarterly dividend of $0.78 per share ($3.12 per share on
an annualized basis). Some analysts have noted that the dividend will represent
a payout in excess of our operating cash flow, and so they question whether we
would — or even should — maintain the dividend at this level. As we’ve already
pointed out, we see fewer attractive opportunities to reinvest cash flow over the
near term, including proceeds from asset sales. In this type of environment, we
believe that preserving the dividend and thus supporting the share price will

produce the best overall result for shareholders.

8 Post Properties, Inc.




FOURTH QUARTER CHARGE

Although we’ve made considerable progress in repositioning the
business, it has not been without cost. In 2000, we incurred a charge of
$9.4 million and in the fourth quarter of 2001, we incurred an additional
charge of $17.5 million. The lion’s share of those charges was for severance
and abandoned deal costs related to the ramp-down in our development activ-
ity. However, by making our business leaner, we expect to reduce our overhead
burden by some $7 million annually. This will show up as a reduction in the
amount of personnel and associated cost we capitalize to development projects,
rather than a reduction in the general and administrative expense line item in
our income statement.

To better explain this, we will need to digress into a brief discussion of
accounting — and the distinct expenditures which are capitalized and those that
are expensed. In addition to our associates who spend 100% of their time on
development and construction acﬁ\’itics, accounting rules permit us to capital-
ize an appropriate portion of the incremental cost of other divisions that relate

to the support of our development and construction efforts. The proportion of

this cost allocated to our development proj-

ects varies with the scale of our development

Post Luminaria™

activities. In 2001, we capitalized to develop-
New York, New York

ment about $14 million of internal personnel
and associated cost including $9 million that
was related to support divisions. In 2002,

through our cost-cutting we expect to

reduce total capitalized internal personnel

and associated cost to about $7 million and,

more importantly, to reduce the porton that

represents capitalized support division cost to
about $3 million. So although our cost-cutting efforts relate primarily to capi-
talized cost, we will reduce substantially the risk to our future earnings from
fluctuations in the size of our development pipeline or potential changes in

accounting rules.

Post Properties, Inc. 9




LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS

MoviNGg ON

Our efforts to make the Company leaner and more focused have
resulted in the departure of certain executive team members. In selling our
third-party landscape and management divisions, Bill Lincicome and Bill
Leseman have left the Company to lead these respective businesses as private
companies. As part of our planned reduction in development activity and, in
particular, limiting development activity in Atlanta, a number of long-term
Atlanta-based development and construction personnel will be leaving Post
to start a fee construction company. Among these employees is Dan Faulk,
who for 15 years has provided leadership to our development efforts in Atanta
and the Southeast. Other long-term employees leaving Post to join Dan are
Richard Dennv (18 years), Ray Flowers (26 years), Al Futch (24 vears), Robert

Matle (20 years), Jerry Setser (19 years), James Thompson (25 years), and

Ronnie Tucker (20 years). We wish

them, as well as their employees,

Post Massachuserts Avenne™ every success and prosperity in their

Washingron, D.C.
future endeavors.

We also have some other

long-term employees to whom
we said goodbye in 2001. We offer
our best wishes to Debbie Brvant,

head of our construction account-

ing department, who retired after

10 Post Properties, Inc.




24 years of service, and to Don Rutzen, a

landscape architect in our development divi-

X X

A

Post Biltmore™

sion, who left after 23 vears of service to " Aviania, Grogia
£l

pursue other opportunities.

\

Although we will be facing chal-

[

lenging market conditions in 2002, we

are confident about the direction of the

—

=5,

Company and our management team’s abil-

L

ity to lead the Company through this cycle.

We continue to believe we have the highest
quality assets in our sector and customer

service that is second to none. These attrib-

utes will serve us well as we complete our

repositioning plans and emerge from the current cycle.

Our Annunl Meeting will be beld on May 23, 2002, at our offices

at Post Riverside™, and we look forward to visiting with you then.

%m BT G i

John A. Williams John T. Glover David P. Stockert

Post Properties, Inc. 11
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(Dollars in thousands, excepr
per shave and apartment unit dora)

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,

2001 2000 1999 1998 1997

Operating Data:
Revenue:

Rental $ 368,042 | § 365,895 $ 318,697 § 275755 § 185,732

Third-party services® 14,088 15,249 12,486 10,416 7,569

Other 16,184 18,688 14,744 12,734 6,815

Total revenue 398,314 399,832 345,927 298,905 200,116

Expense:
Property operating and maintenance

expense (exclusive of depreciation

and amortization) 140,630 131,349 113,152 99,717 67,515
Depreciation 76,178 71,113 58,013 46,646 29,048
Third-party services'V 13,023 13,092 10,829 8,763 6,243
Interest expense 57,930 50,303 33,192 31,297 24,658
Amortization of deferred loan costs 1,878 1,636 1,496 1,185 980
General and administration 13,745 10,066 7,788 8,495 7,364
Minority interest in consolidated

property partnerships (2,098) (1,695) 511 397 —

Total expense 301,386 275,864 224981 196,500 135,808

Income before net gain (loss) on sale of

assets, loss on unused treasury locks, loss

on relocation of corporate office, other

charges, minority interest of unitholders,

cumulative effect of accounting change,

and extraordinary item 96,928 123,968 120,946 102,405 64,308
Net gain (loss) on sale of assets 23,942 3,208 (1,522) — 3,270
Loss on unused treasury locks — — — (1,944) —
Loss on relocation of corporate office — — — — (1,500)
Project abandonment, employee severance,

and impairment charges® (17,450) (9,365) — — —
Minority interest of preferred unitholders

in Operating Partnership (5,600) (5,600) (1,851) — —
Minority interest of common unitholders

in Operating Partnership (10,203) (11,691) (12,598) (11,511) (11,131)
Income before cumulative effect

of accounting change and

extraordinary item 87,617 100,520 104,975 88,950 54,947
Cumulative effect of accounting change,

net of minority interest™ (613) — — — —
Extraordinary item, net of

minority interest® (77) — (458) — (75)
Net income 86,927 100,520 104,517 88,950 54,872
Dividends to preferred shareholders (11,768) (11,875) (11,875) (11,473) (4,907)
Net income available to

common shareholders $ 75,159 | § 88,645 $ 92,642 S 77,477 $ 49 965
Per Common Share Data:
Income before cumulative effect of

accounting change and extraordinary

item (net of preferred dividends) ~ basic | $ 200 S 225 % 242§ 221 8 2.11
Net income available to common

shareholders — basic 1.98 2.25 241 221 2,11
Income before cumulative effect

of accounting changes and

extraordinary item (net of

preferred dividends) - diluted 1.98 222 2.39 2.18 2.09
Net income available to

common shareholders - diluted 1.96 222 2.38 2.18 2.09
Dividends declared 3.12 3.04 2.80 2.60 2.38

Post Properties, Inc. 13




(Dollars in thousands, except DECEMBER 31,
per shave and aparrment unit data) 2001 2000 1999 1998 1997
Balance Sheet Data:
Real estate, before accumulated depreciation | $ 2,867,672 | § 2,827,094 § 2,582,785 § 2255074 § 1,936,011
Real estate, net of accumulated depreciation 2,463,398 2,469 914 2,279,769 2,007,926 1,734,916
Total assets 2,538,351 2,551,237 2,350,173 2,066,713 1,780,563
Total debt 1,336,520 1,213,309 989,583 800,008 821,209
Shareholders’ equity 801,517 1,028,610 1,058,862 1,051,686 756,920
Other Data:
Cash flow provided from (used in}:

Operating activities $ 161,564 | $ 185,073 $ 153,038 § 148618 §$ 109,554

Investing activities $  (51,213)| § (255,986) $ (317.960) S (328,216) $ (208,377)

Financing activities $ (113,007)] § 72,502 § 149,638 § 189,873 § 109,469

Funds from operations® $ 133,133 | $ 163,411 $ 162,581 § 134,202 § 85,892
Weighted average common shares

outstanding — basic 38,052,673 39,317,725 38,460,689 35,028,596 23,664,044
Weighted average common shares

and units outstanding — basic 43,211,834 44,503,290 43,663,373 40,244,351 28,880,928
Weighted average common shares

outstanding — diluted 38,267,939 39,852,514 38,916,987 35,473,587 23,887,906
Weighted average common shares

and units outstanding — diluted 43,427,100 45,038,079 44,119,671 40,689,342 29,104,790
Total stabilized communities

(at end of period) 82 82 85 83 78
Total stabilized apartment units

(at end of period) 27,710 28,736 29,032 27,568 25,938
Average economic occupancy

(fully stabilized communities)® 94.9% 96.8% 96.4% 96.5% 94.8%

(1) Consists of vevenues and expenses from property management and landscape services provided to propertics owned by thivd parties.

(2) Project abandonment, employee severance, and impairment charges for 2001 consisted of the following:
Severance cost — $3.6 million
Dpasrment veserve fov technology investments — §1.5 million
Impairment veserve for pre-development costs — $8.1 million
Dinpairment veserve for for-sale housing — 51.0 million
Loss on sale of and impairment veserve for other assets, including corporate aiveraft — $3.3 million

(3) The cumulative effect of acconunting change results from the Company’s adoption of SEAS No. 133, effective January 1, 2001,
(4) The extraovdinary item vesulted from costs associated with the early extinguishment of indebtedness.

(5) The Company uses the National Association of Real Estate Investment Trusts (“NAREIT®) definition of FFO. Effective January 1, 2000,
NAREIT amended its definition of FFO to include in FFO all non-recurring transactions, except those that are defined as extraordinary
under genevally accepted accounting principles ("GAAP*). The Company adopred this new definition effecrive January 1, 2000. FFO
for any period means the Consolidated Net Income of the Company and its subsidinvies for such peviod excluding gains or losses from
debt vestrucruring and sales of property plus depreciation of veal estate assets, and after adjustment for unconsolidated partnerships and
Joint ventures, all determined on a consistent basis in accordance with GAAP. FFO presented hevein is not necessarily comparable to
FFO presented by other veal estate compandes becanse not all venl estare companies use the same definition. The Company’s FFO is compa-
rable to the FFO of veal estate companies that use the current NAREIT definition. FFO should not be considered as an alternative to
net income as an indicator of the Company’s financial performance or to cash flow from vperating activities (determined in accordance
with GAAP) as a measure of the Company’s liguidity, nor is it necessavily indicative of sufficient cash flow to fund all of the Company’s
needs or ability to service indebtedness or make distributions. FFO for 1998 and 1997 has been restated to veflect the vequirements of the
new NAREIT definition.

(6) Amount represents average economic occupancy for communities stabilized for both the current and prior vespective peviods. Average eco-
nomic occupancy is defined as gross potential vent less vacancy losses, model expenses, and bad debr divided by gross porentinl vent for the
period, expressed as a pevcentage. The calculation of average economic occupancy does not include a deduction for concessions and employee
discounts (average economic occupancy, taking account of these amounts, wonld have been 93.8% and 94.8% for the years ended December
31, 2001 and 2000, vespectively). Concessions were $1,860 and $3,729, and employee discounts weve $895 and 3871 for the years ended
December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively. A community is consideved by the Company to bave achieved stabilized occupancy on the earlier
to occur of (i) attainment of 95% physical occupancy on the first day of any month, or (ii) one year after completion of construction.

14 Post Properties, Inc.




(Dollars in thousands, except per shave and apartment unit data)

OVERVIEW

The following discussion should be read in conjunction with the financial statements appearing elsewhere in this
report. The following discussion is based primarily on the Consolidated Financial Statements of Post Properties, Inc.
(the “Company”) and Post Apartment Homes, L.D. (the “Operating Partnership”). Except for the effect of minority
interest in the Operating Partnership, the following discussion with respect to the Company is the same for the
Operating Partnership.

As of December 31, 2001, there were 41,975,447 Units outstanding, of which 36,856,559, or 87.8%, were
owned by the Company and 5,118,888, or 12.2%, were owned by other limited partners (including certain officers
and directors of the Company). As of December 31, 2001, there were 7,700,000 preferred units outstanding, of which
4,900,000 were owned by the Company.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

In the preparation of financial statements and in the determination of Company operating performance, the Company
utilizes certain significant accounting policies, and these accounting policies are discussed in Note 1 to the Company’s
consolidated financial statements. Also discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements are several new
accounting pronouncements issued in 2001. The impact of the new pronouncements is discussed below and in the
consolidated financial statements. As the Company is in the business of developing, owning, and managing apartment
communities, its critical accounting policies relate to cost capitalization and asset impairment evaluation.

The Company capitalizes those expenditures relating to the acquisition of new assets, the development and con-
struction of new apartment communities, the enhancement of the value of existing assets, and expenditures that
substantally extend the life of existing assets. All other expenditures necessary to maintain a community in ordinary oper-
ating condition are expensed as incurred. Additionally, for new development communities, carpet, vinyl, and blind
replacements are expensed as incurred during the first five years (which corresponds to the estimated depreciable life).
Thereafter, these replacements are capitalized. Further, the Company expenses as incurred all interior and exterior
painting of communities.

The Company capitalizes interest, real estate taxes, and certain internal personnel and associated costs directly
related to apartment communities under development and construction. The incremental personnel and associated
costs are capitalized to the projects under development based upon the effort directly identifiable with such projects.
Should the Company reduce its development activities below a range of $75 million to $150 million annually, the
Company would need to either reduce its incremental personnel and associated costs related to development and con-
struction activities or reflect such costs as current period expenses. The Company treats each unit in an apartment
community separately for cost accumulation, capitalization, and expense recognition purposes. Prior to the com-
mencement of leasing activities, interest and other construction costs are capitalized and reflected on the balance sheet
as construction in progress. The Company ceases the capitalization of such costs as the residential units in a commu-
nity become substantially complete and available for occupancy. This results in a proration of these costs between
amounts that are capitalized and expensed as the residential units in a development community become available for
occupancy. In addition, prior to the completion of units, the Company expenses as incurred substantially all operating
expenses (including pre-opening marketing expenses) of such communities.

The Company continually evaluates the recoverability of the carrying value of its real estate assets using
the methodology prescribed in Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 121, “Accounting for the
Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to be Disposed Of.” Factors considered by management
in evaluating impairment include significant declines in property operating profits, recurring property operating
losses and other significant adverse changes in general market conditions that are considered permanent in nature. If
any real estate asset held for investment is considered impaired, a loss is provided to reduce the carrying value of
the asset to irs fair value. If a real estate asset is held for sale, any estimated loss is provided to reduce the carrying value
of the asset to its fair value less costs to sell. Subsequent to the classification of assets as held for sale, no further depre-

ciation expense is recorded.
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In 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued several new accounting pronouncements, which are
discussed in the following paragraphs.

SFAS No. 141, “Business Combinations,” which requires all business combinations initiated after June 30,
2001 to be accounted for under the purchase method, was issued in July 2001. SFAS No. 141 supersedes APB

;]

Opinion No. 16, “Accounting for Pre-acquisition Contingencies of Purchase Enterprises,” and 1s effective for all
business combinations initiated after June 30, 2001. The adoption of SFAS No. 141 did not have a significant effect
on the Company’s results of operations or its financial position.

SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,” was issued in July 2001. Under SFAS No. 142, the
amortization of goodwill or other intangible assets with indefinite lives is no longer required, but will be subject to
periodic testing for impairment. SFAS No. 142 supersedes APB Opinion No. 17, “Intangible Assets.” The Company
will implement SFAS No. 142 on January 1, 2002. The Company believes the provisions of SFAS No. 142 will not
have a significant effect on its results of operations or its financial position.

SFAS No. 143, “Accounting for Obligations Associated with Retirement of Long-Lived Assets,” was issued in
August 2001. SFAS No. 143 establishes accounting standards for the recognition and measurement of an asset retire-
ment obligation and its associated asset retirement costs. It also provides accounting guidance for legal obligations
associated with the retirement of tangible long-lived assets. SFAS No. 143 is effective in fiscal vears beginning after
June 15, 2002. The Company believes the provisions of SFAS No. 143 will not have a significant effect on its results
of operations or its financial position.

SFAS No. 144, “Accountng for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets,” that replaces SFAS No.
121, was issued in October 2001. SFAS No. 144 requires that long-lived assets be measured at the lower of their car-
rving amount or fair value less cost to sell, whether reported in continuing operations or in discontinued operations.
The provisions of SFAS No. 144 are effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after December
15, 2001 and the Company will implement the provisions of SFAS No 144 on January 1, 2002,

Under both SFAS No. 121 and 144, real estate assets designated as held for sale are stated at their fair value less
costs to sell. The Company classifies real estate as held for sale when its internal investment committee approves the sale
and the Company has commenced an active program to sell the assets. Subsequent to this classification, no turther
depreciation is recorded on the assets. The operating results of real estate assets held for sale were included in contin-
uing operations. Upon the implementation of SFAS No. 144 in 2002, the operating results of real estate assets held
for sale and real estate assets sold will be included in discontinued operations in the consolidated statement of opera-
tions. The Company believes the provisions of SFAS No. 144 will not have a significant effect on the Company’s net

results of operations or its financial position.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion of results of operations should be read in conjunction with the consolidated statement of

operations and the accompanying selected financial data.

Comparison of Year Ended December 31, 2001 to Year Ended December 31, 2000

The Company reported net income available to common shareholders of $§75,159 and $88,645 for the vears ended
December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively. The decrease in Company net income available to common shareholders
of $13,486 from 2000 to 2001 was primarily related to project abandonment, employee severance, and impairment
charges of $17,450 ($15,316 net of minority interest). The Company’s asset sales in 2001 generated gains which
increased by $20,734 (818,276 net of minority interest) due to an increase in sales volume as well as the mix of assets
sold as compared to 2000. These increased gains were offset by the weaker operating performance of fully stabilized
communities (see below), slower lease-up of new development communities, the dilutive impact of the Company’s

fully implemented asset sale, and capital reinvestment program and increased general and administrative expenses.
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Rental revenue increased $2,147 or 0.6% from 2000 to 2001 primarily due to the $2,496 or 1.0% growth in

revenues from fully stabilized communities discussed further below. The rental revenue increases from the Company’s

newly stabilized and lease-up properties of $32,973 was offset by the revenue reduction of $33,224, from assets held
for sale and sold under the Company’s asset sales and capital recycling program. Property operating and maintenance
expenses (exclusive of depreciation and amortization) increased $9,281 or 7.1% primarily due to the $8,216 or 9.0%
increase at fully stabilized and newly stabilized properties.

Revenues in excess of specified expenses from third-party services, principally landscape and property manage-
ment, decreased $1,092 or 50.6% from 2000 to 2001 primarily due to a decrease in earnings from landscape services.
This decrease was due to a reduction in new installation volume resulting from a slowdown in commercial construc-
tion activity and due to the sale of the landscape operation to its management team effective October 31, 2001.

In addition to the sale of third-party landscape business, the Company also sold its third-party property man-
agement business to its respective management team on December 31, 2001. These sales were part of the Company’s
strategy to focus on its core business of owning, developing, and managing multifamily communities. As the sales were
financed 100% by the Company, they were not recorded as sales under generally accepted accounting principles. The
Company financed these transactions over five years with two one-year renewal options. The purchase money notes
bear interest at 9% per annum. As more fully discussed in Note 8 to the consolidated financial statements, full sales
recognition will not occur until the Company receives an adequate down payment on the notes. The estimated loss
of $452 on the landscape business sale was included in the asset impairment charge in 2001. A gain of $591 was
deferred on the sale of the property management business and will be recognized when the criteria for sale recogni-
tion occurs (expected to be in 2002). These operations generated revenues in excess of specified expenses of $1,065
that will not occur in 2002.

Depreciation expense increased $5,065 or 7.1% from 2000 to 2001 primarily as a result of the increase in oper-
ating depreciable assets in 2001.

Interest expense increased $7,627 or 15.2% from 2000 to 2001 primarily due to increased borrowings
and a decrease in the amount of interest capitalized to a reduced amount of communities under construction
between years.

General and administrative expenses increased $3,679 or 36.5% from 2000 to-2001 primarily due to reduced
capitalization of overhead on a reduced amount of communities under construction, increased insurance costs, and
technology connectivity costs.

The net gain on sale of assets in 2001 resulted from the sale of six communities, one commercial property and

five tracts of land, adjusted by the impact of write-downs to fair value less costs to sell of assets currently held for sale.

Comparison of Year Ended December 31, 2000 to Year Ended December 31, 1999

The Company reported net income available to common shareholder of $88,645 and $92,642 for the years ended
December 31, 2000 and 1999, respectively. The decrease in Company net income available to common shareholders
of $3,997 from 1999 to 2000 was primarily related to project abandonment, employee severance, and asset impair-
ment changes of $9,365 ($8,277 net of minority interest) as discussed below.

Rental revenues increased $47,198 or 14.8% due to the $13,950 or 5.8% growth in revenues from fully stabi-
lized communities discussed further below and due to the increase from newly stabilized and lease-up properties of
$37,254. These increases were only partally offset by the impact of assets held for sale or sold under the Company’s
asset sales and capital recycling program which was implemented in 2000. Property operating and maintenance expens-
es (exclusive of depreciation and amortization) increased $18,197 or 16.1% largely due to the increase of the operating

property portfolio from the [ease-up of newly stabilized and lease-up properties.
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Revenues in excess of specified expenses {exclusive of depreciation and amortization) from third-party services
increased by $500 or 30.2% due to increased profits from the property management business resulting from an increase
in the average number of units managed.

Depreciation expense increased $13,100 or 22.6% from 1999 to 2000 primarily as a result of an increase in
operating depreciable property from the completion of development properties, additional leasehold improvements,
and technology expenditures.

Interest expense increased $17,111 or 51.6% from 1999 to 2000 primarily due to significantly increased bor-
rowings used to fund the growth in both the operating and development property portfolios.

General and administrative expenses increased $2,278 or 29.3% from 1999 to 2000 primarily due to increased
personnel costs at a rate consistent with the overall growth of the Company.

The net gain on sale of assets in 2000 resulted from the sale of eight communities, adjusted by the impact
of write-downs to fair market value of assets held for sale. The net loss on sale of assets in 1999 resulted from the sale

of one community and two tracts of land.

PROJECT ABANDONMENT, EMPLOYEE SEVERANCE, AND IMPAIRMENT CHARGES

The Company recorded project impairment and abandonment, employee severance, and asset impairment charges for

the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000. The charges are summarized as follows:

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,

2001 2000
Project impairment and abandonment $ 8,122 M 4,389
Employee severance 3,560 3,066
Asset impairment 5,768 1,910
$ 17,450 $ 9,365

In the fourth quarter of 2001, the Company recorded charges totaling $17,450. These charges, precipitated
by the sharp decline in economic and market conditions, reflect management’s decision to focus its business and new
development strategy on fewer markets, to focus on its core business of owning, developing, and managing multifamily
real estate assets and to do so with a smaller workforce and lower overhead expenses. The project impairment charge
of $8,122 represents reserves on certain predevelopment and transaction pursuit costs in markets the Company will
no longer pursue for development opportunities and for certain projects that will no longer be pursued due to eco-
nomic and market conditions. The employee severance charge of $3,560 is primarily for severance costs related
to approximately a 100-person senior management and staft workforce reduction plan initiated and completed in
the fourth quarter of 2001. The asset impairment and disposition charge includes a loss of $2,831 related to the dis-
position of the Company’s corporate aircraft; a loss of $452 on the sale of the Company’s third-party landscape
business discussed more fully below, impairment charges of $1,000 related to the Company’s exit from the for-sale
housing business in all markets, and the write-down to estimated market value of certain internet and technology
investments of $1,485.

At December 31, 2001, approximately $3,632 of these charges, primarily employee severance costs, remained
as an accrued liability on the consolidated balance sheet. These amounts are expected to be paid in 2002.

In the fourth quarter of 2001, the Company sold substantially all of the net assets of Post Landscape Group,
Inc., a subsidiary entity that provided landscape maintenance, design, and installation services to third parties,

and RAM Partners, Inc., a separate subsidiary entity that managed apartment communities for third parties. These
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businesses were sold to members of the respective former management teams of the subsidiaries. The Company

financed 100% of the sales price of $5,767 (adjusted for working capital transfers at closing) through purchase money
notes with a fixed interest rate of 9%. The notes require periodic interest, annual principal and final balloon principal
payments in 2006. The notes can be extended for two one-year periods. Under generally accepted accounting
principles, the transactions have not been recorded as sales at December 31, 2001, and will not be recorded as sales
until the conditions for sale rccogniﬂon, primarily the receipt of an adequate down payment on the notes, are met.
Until these transactions are recognized as sales, the book value of the assets and liabilities of these business are included
in the Company’s consolidated balance sheet. Any collections under the notes will reduce the carrying value of the
assets. The sale of the Post Landscape Group resulted in a loss of $452. Under generally accepted accounting princi-
ples, this loss was recognized in 2001 and included in the project abandonment, employee severance, and impairment
charges discussed above. The sale of RAM Partners will result in a gain of approximately $591, which will be recog-
nized when the conditions for full sale recognition are met (expected in 2002).

In the fourth quarter of 2000, the Company recorded charges of $9,365. These charges reflect management’s
decision to restrict its development activities to fewer markets, refine its development investment and for-sale housing
strategies and make changes in its executive management team. Project abandonment charges totaling $4,389 related
to the write-off of predevelopment and pursuit costs in markets in which the Company will no longer pursue devel-
opment opportunities and on certain proposed development deals not consistent with management’s revised
development strategy. Emplovee severance charges related to the termination costs of four executive positions and five
staft personnel in the Company’s Dallas, Texas regional office. The asset impairment charge of $1,910 includes a
charge of $1,503 related to the write-off of the Company’s investment in a high speed internet provider that filed for
bankruptcy protection, and a charge of $407 related to the exit from the for-sale housing business in certain markets.
As of December 31, 2001, all of the 2000 charges had been paid.

COMMUNITY OPERATIONS/SEGMENT PERFORMANCE

The Company’s net income is generated primarily from the operation of its apartment communities. For purposes
of evaluating comparative operating performance, the Company categorizes its operating communities based on the
period each community reaches stabilized occupancy. A community is generally considered by the Company to have
achieved stabilized occupancy on the earlier to occur of (i) attainment of 95% physical occupancy on the first day of
any month or (ii) one vear after completion of construction.

At December 31, 2001, the Company’s portfolio of apartment communities consisted of the following: (1) 65
communities that were completed and stabilized for all of the current and prior year, (ii) ten communities that achieved
full stabilization during 2000, (iii) six communities and an addition to an existing community which reached stabi-
lization during 2001, (iv) 12 communities and additions to three existing communities currently in the development
or lease-up stage and (v) two stabilized communities classified as held for sale.

The Company has adopted an accounting policy related to communities in the lease-up stage whereby sub-
stantially all operating expenses (including pre-opening marketing expenses) are expensed as incurred. During the
lease-up phase, the sum of interest expense on completed units and other operating expenses (including pre-opening
marketing expenses) will initially exceed rental revenues, resulting in a “lease-up deficit,” which continues until such
time as rental revenues exceed such expenses. Lease up deficits for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000, and
1999 were $3,173, 82,665, and $2,798, respectively.

In order to evaluate the operating performance of its communities, the Company has presented financial infor-
mation which summarizes the revenue in excess of specified expense on a comparative basis for all of its operating

communities combined and for fully stabilized communities.
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All Operating Communities
The operating performance for all of the Company’s apartment communities combined for the years ended December
31, 2001, 2000, and 1999 is summarized as follows:

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 3I,

2001 2000 % Change 2000 1999 % Change
Rental and other revenue:

Fully stabilized communities® $ 257,007 | § 254,511 1.0% | § 254,511 § 240,561 58 %
Communities stabilized during 2000 46,237 39,556 169 % 39,556 14,863 166.1 %
Lease-up communities? 44,607 18,315  143.6 % 18,315 5,754 218.3 %
Communities held for sale® 6,278 6,132 24 % 6,132 5,885 42 %
Sold communities'® 13,381 46,751  (71.4)% 46,751 53,181  (12.1)%
Other revenue® 14,945 17,396 (14.1)% 17,396 12,433 399 %

382,455 382,661 (0.1)% 382,661 332,677 150 %

Property operating and maintenance
expense (exclusive of depreciation
and amortization):

Fully stabilized communities' 83,117 78,101 6.4 % 78,101 73,768 59 %
Communities stabilized during 2000 16,108 12,908 248 % 12,908 5416 1383 %
Lease-up communities'® 17,688 8,496 108.2 % 8,496 2,598  227.0 %
Communities held for sale® 2,207 2,113 44 % 2,113 1,945 8.6 %
Sold communities®! 5,123 15,124 (66.1)% 15,124 16,117 (6.2)%
Other expense!® 16,387 14,607 122 % 14,607 13,308 9.8 %
140,630 131,349 71 % 131,349 113,152 16.1 %
Revenue in excess of specified expense $ 241,825 $ 251,312 (3.8)% | $ 251,312 $ 219,525 14.5 %
Recurring capital expenditures:”
Carpet $ 2935/ 289 1.6% |$ 2,890 § 2,864 09 %
Other 7,506 6,267 19.8 % 6,267 5,777 8.5 %
Total $ 104418 9157 140% |$ 9,057 § 8,641 6.0 %
Average apartment units in service 31,485 31,722 (0.7)% 31,722 29,304 83 %

(1) Communities which reached stabilization prior to January 1, 2000.

(2) Communities in the “construction,” “development,” or “lease-up” stage duving 2001 and, thevefore, not considered fully stabilized for all of
the periods presented.

(3) Includes two communities in Flovida and one commercial property in Texas.

(4) Includes vesults from six communities contasning 2,799 units and one commercial property sold in 2001 and vesults from eight communities
containing 1,984 units sold in 2000 for the applicable periods presented.

(5) Other revenue includes vevenue on furnished apartment rentals above the unfurnished rental vaves and any revenue not divectly related to
property operations.

(6) Other expenses includes cevtain indivect centval office operating expenses velated to management, grounds maintenance, and costs associated with
furnished apartment ventals.

(7) In addition to those expenses which relate to property opevations, the Company incurs recurving and non-recurving expenditures velating to acquiring
and developing new assets, materially enbancing the value of an existing asset, or substantially extending the useful life of an existing asset, all of
which ave capitalized.

For the vear ended December 31, 2001, rental and other revenue decreased $206 or 0.1% compared to 2000.
The revenue increase from the completion and lease-up of new development communities was offset by the revenue
reduction from assets sold in 2001 and 2000 under the Company’s asset sales and capital recycling program. The
growth in revenue from fully stabilized communities slowed to 1.0% between years as a result of declining aver-
age occupancy and declining rental rate growth in the second half of 2001. Property operating and maintenance
expenses (exclusive of depreciation and amortization) increased $9,281 or 7.1% from 2000 to 2001 primarily due to

an increase in expenses at fully stabilized communities and communities stabilized in 2000 of $8,216 resulting from
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increased personnel costs, real estate taxes, and insurance. For the year ended December 31, 2001, recurring capital

expenditures increased $1,284, or 14.0%, compared to the prior vear, primarily due to increased roof replacements,
appliance purchases, and amenities enhancements.

For the vear ended December 31, 2000, rental and other revenue increased $49,984 or 15.0% compared to
1999, primarily as a result of the completion and lease-up of new communities and increased rental rates at fully
stabilized communities. Property maintenance and operating expenses (exclusive of depreciation and amortization)
increased from 1999 to 2000 by $18,197 or 16.1% primarily due to the financial impact of placing an average of an
additional 2,418 apartment units in service between years. For the year ended December 31, 2000, recurring capital
expenditures increased $516, or 6.0%, compared to the prior year, primarily due to additional units place in service

and additional landscape improvements at the communities.

Fully Stabilized Communities

The Company defines fully stabilized communities as those which have reached stabilization prior to the beginning of
the previous calendar year. At December 31, 2001, the fully stabilized portfolio of 65 communities with 22,505 units
includes 34 communities with 13,279 units (59%) located in Atlanta, Georgia; 18 communities with 4,042 units (18%)
in Dallas, Texas; eight communities with 3,687 units (16%) located in Tampa and Orlando, Florida; and five commu-

nities with 1,497 units (7%) located in other markets. The operating performance of these communities is summarized

as follows:
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,
2001 2000 % Change 2000 1999 % Change

Rental and other revenue® $ 257,007 | § 254,511 1.0 % | § 254,511 $ 240,561 5.8 %
Property operating and maintenance expense

(exclusive of depreciation and

amortization )® 83,117 78,101 6.4 % 78,101 73,768 59 %
Revenue in excess of specified expense $ 173,820 § 176,410 (14)% | 8§ 176,410 $ 166,793 58%
Average economic occupancy™® 24.9% 96.6% (1.7)% 96.6% 95.4% 1.2 %
Average monthly rental rate per

apartment unit® $ 957 % 937 21% |'$ 937 § 900 41%
Apartment units in service 22,505 22,505 22,505 22,505

(1) Communities which reached stabilization prior to January 1, 2000,

(2) In addition to those expenses which relate to property operations, the Company incurs vecurving and non-vecurving expendituves velaring ro acquir-
ing new assets, matevially enbancing the value of an existing asser, or substantially extending the useful life of an existing asset, all of which ave
capitalized. For the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000, and 1999 recurving expendituves were 89,014, 87,328, and $7,048 or $401, $326, and
$313 on a per unit basis, vespectively.

(3) Average economic occupancy is defined as gross porentinl vent less vacancy losses, model expenses, and bad debt divided by gross potential vent for the
period, expressed as a percentage. The calculation of average economic occupancy does not include a deduction for concessions and employee discounts.
(Average economic occupancy, taking account of these amounts, wonld have been 93.8%, 94.8%, and 94.1% for the years ended December 31, 2001,
2000, and 1999 respectively). Concessions weve $1,860, 83,729, and $3,217 and employee discounts weve $895, $871, and 3678 for the years ended
December 31, 2001, 2000, and 1999 respectively. .

(4) Average monthly rental vate is defined as the average of the gross actual rental vates for leased units and the average of the anticipated rental rates
Sfor unoccupicd units.

For the year ended December 31, 2001, rental and other revenue increased $2,496 or 1.0% compared to 2000.
Gross revenue less concessions increased by approximately $7,174 or 2.9% between years. This increase was partially
offset by an increased vacancy loss of $4,684 primarily resuiting from the decrease in weighted average occupancy from
96.6% in 2000 to 94.9% in 2001. The Company’s rental and other revenue growth between years began to slow in
the third quarter of 2001 and showed a decline of $1,846 or 2.9% in the fourth quarter as average occupancies
declined and rental rate growth slowed. The decline in the second half of 2001 reflects the sharp decline in eco-
nomic and market activity across most of the Company’s markets. This was especially true in the Company’s primary
market, Adanta, Georgia, where new job growth turned negative for the first time in many years as many major

employers began downsizing their workforces in response to a national recession.
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As the Company enters into the first quarter of 2002, average economic occupancy for the stabilized portfolio
has decreased from 93.3% in the fourth quarter of 2001 to approximately 91.0% in the first two months of 2002, fur-
ther reflecting the impact of declining economic and market conditions in the national economy and most of our major
markets, particularly Atlanta, Georgia. If market conditions do not improve in 2002, stabilized property revenues and
revenues in excess of specified expense will decrease in the 2% to 5% range when compared to 2001.

Property operating maintenance expense (exclusive of depreciation and amortization) increased $5,016 or 6.4%
from 2000 to 2001 primarily due to increased personnel costs of $1,471 or 6.9%, increased repairs and maintenance
expenses of $1,061 or 11.3% and increased property insurance premiums of $1,614 or 142.4%. Insurance costs
increased due to across the board increases in property and liability premiums primarily due to favorably low rate struc-
ture the Company enjoyed in prior years and to a lesser extent unfavorable claims experience. Personnel costs increased
due to annual salary increases and additional maintenance personnel based on an expectation of higher average occu-
pancies and increased rental rates as the Company entered into 2001. Property repairs and maintenance reflects
increased unit turnkey expenses as unit vacancies increased berween years and an increase in expensed exterior
painting between years.

For 2002, the Company will have additional insurance premium increases of approximately 70% as a result of
the effects on the insurance markets of the terrorist attacks in September 2001, However, through certain staff realign-
ments and reductions and a more intense focus on expense control, the Company believes the increase in property
operating and maintenance expenses for 2002 will- be in the 2% to 4% range.

For the year ended December 31, 2000, rental and other revenue increased $13,950 or 5.8% compared to 1999
due to both rental rate growth and average occupancy increases. Property operating and maintenance expenses (exclu-
sive of depreciation and amortization) increased $4,333 or 5.9% from 1999 to 2000 primarily due to increased
personnel costs of $1,905 or 9.8% and increased real estate tax expenses of $2,021 or 8.1%. Personnel costs increased
due to normal annual salary increases and additional staff necessary to service the portfolio averaging over 96% occu-
pancy in 2000 and due to an increase in employvee discounts between vears. Real estate taxes increased due primarily

to a 5% increase in tax rates in Dallas, Texas, and to valuation increases of over 10% at our Tampa, Florida properties.

LiouipiTty AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

The discussion in this Liquidity and Capital Resources section is the same for the Company and the Operating part-
nership, except that all indebtedness described herein has been incurred by the Operating Partnership.

The Company’s net cash provided by operating activities decreased from $185,073 in 2000 to $161,564 in
2001 primarily due to lower net income (before depreciation and gain on sale of assets), resulting from the larger proj-
ect abandonment, employee severance and impairment charges, weaker operating performance of the Company’s fully
stabilized properties, and the dilutive impact of the Company’s asset sale and capital recycling program. Net cash pro-
vided by operating activities increased from $153,038 in 1999 to $185,073 in 2000, primarily due changes in working
capital and an increase in net income before depreciation.

Net cash used in investing activides decreased from $255,986 in 2000 to $51,213 in 2001 primarily due to
greater proceeds from the sale of apartment communities and other property and reduced spending on construction
and acquisition of real estate assets. Net cash used in investing activities decreased from $317,960 in 1999 to $255,986
in 2000 primarily due to increased proceeds from the sale of apartment communities partially offset by increased
spending on construction and acquisition of real estate assets.

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities decreased from $149,638 in 1999 to $72,502 in 2000 and
to $(113,007) in 2001 primarily due to increased treasury stock purchases and reduced net borrowings between years.

Since 1993, the Company has elected to be taxed as a real estate investment trust (“REIT”) under the Internal
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”). It is management’s current intent that the Company will con-

tinue to operate as a REIT in 2002. As a REIT, the Company is subject to a number of organizational and operating
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requirements, including a requirement to distribute 90% of its taxable income to its shareholders. As a REIT, the
Company generally will not be subject to federal income taxes on its taxable income.

In prior years, the Company met its short-term liquidity requirement of funding the payment of its current
level of quarterly dividends to shareholders from its net cash flow provided by operating activities, less its annual recur-
ring and non-recurring property and corporate capital expenditures. Beginning in the fourth quarter of 2001, the
Company’s net cash flow from operations reduced by annual capital expenditures discussed above was not sufficient
to fully fund the Company’s current level of dividend payments to common shareholders. The Company’s net cash
flow from operations continues to be sufficient to meet the dividend requirements to maintain its REIT status under
the Code. The additional funding required to pay the current dividends was obtained through a combination of line
of credit borrowings and proceeds from asset sales. The factors that have lead to this condition are the decline in
economic and market conditions in the fourth quarter in the Company’s major markets resulting in lower cash
flow from its operating property portfolio, the slower lease-up of its existing development community portfolio and
the short-term negative cash flow impact of funding its current development portfolio through the sale of operating
real estate assets.

Management believes that these factors will remain present as the Company moves into 2002, resulting in the
need to fund a portion of its current level of dividend payments primarily through proceeds from asset sales.
Depending on market conditions, the Company may need to fund dividends ranging from $8,000 to $15,000 from
these sources in 2002. Management has indicated that it intends to maintain the quarterly dividend to common share-
holders at its current level of $0.78 per share, as the Company has adequate financing capability to fund the dividends.
Additionally, it is management’s belief that as economic and market conditions recover in future periods operating cash
flow will increase and be adequate to fund the current level of dividend payments.

Management expects the Company to meet its new construction and development and certain of its other long-
term liquidity requirements, including the contractual obligations detailed below, and possible land and property
acquisitions through the sale of operating properties and through long-term secured and unsecured borrowings.
Management believes the Company has adequate borrowing capacity and accessibility to real estate sales markets to
fund these requirements. Additionally, the Company began to utilize equity joint ventures as a means of raising capi-
tal and reducing the size and exposure of its development property pipeline. During 2001, the Company received
equity capital through the joint ventures totaling $18,082. The Company plans to continue to use joint venture
arrangements in 2002.

A summary of the Company’s future contractual obligations related to long-term debt, noncancelable operat-

ing leases and other obligations listed and discussed below at December 31, 2001, were as follows:

OBLIGATION DUE DATE
1 Year After
Contractual Obligations Total or Less | 2-3 Years | 4-5 Years 5 Years
Long-term debt $1,170,3181$  23,367|S 130,505|$ 283,682}8 732,764
Lines of credit 166,202 11,202 155,000 — —
Operating leases®” 165,857 1918 3,547 2,594 157,798
Debt and equity commitments to
unconsolidated entities® 43,988 43,988 — — —
$1,546,365| S 80,475|$ 289,052|$ 286276|$ 890,562

(1) Includes six ground leases velating to apartment communities owned by the Company.

(2) At December 31, 2001, the Company is obligared to fund approximately $34,252 of construction financing and $9,736 of equivy consvibutions to
unconsolidared entities. In addition, the Company has guaranteed the timely construction compietion and the final cost of certain construction cost
categories of the underlving veal estate projects. The maximum exposure under the cost guarantee provisions of these arrangements is approximately
$14,000. The Company estimates its cuvvent funding obligation under these cost guarantee provisions to be approximately $900. Further, the Com-
pany believes the projects will be completed on n timely basis, thus fully mitigating its cost exposure under the completion gunrantee.
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(Dollars in thousands, except per shave and apartment unit data)

In addition to these contractual obligations, the Company has development projects in progress that will
be completed over the next 12 to 18 months. At December 31, 2001, the Company’s share of the estimated
future cash expenditures to complete these projects will approximate $200,000. As previously discussed, the
Company intends to use the proceeds from sale of operating properties as the primary source of capital to fund
these future development expenditures. The Company began an active asset sale and capital recycling program in
2000 as the primary means to fund its ongoing development community program. Total funds raised in 2001
and 2000 were $220,122 and $157,265, respectively.

In 2001, the Company sold six apartment communities containing 2,799 units for net proceeds of approx-
imately $210,443. The communities sold were located in Atlanta, Georgia; Dallas, Texas; and Nashville, Tennessee.
Additionally, the Company sold land parcels in Dallas, Texas; Denver, Colorado; and Charlotte, North Carolina
and a commercial property in Dallas, Texas for aggregate net proceeds of $9,679. These sales resulted in net gains
of approximately $16,365. For the year ended December 31, 2001, the aggregate net gain on the sale of assets of
$23,942 included the impact of the estimated net losses totaling $11,490 on the write-down to fair value of assets
designated as held for sale at December 31, 2001 and excluded realized losses totaling $19,067 related to assets
written down to their estimated fair value at December 31, 2000.

In 2000, the Company sold eight apartment communities containing 1,984 units for net proceeds of
approximately $157,265, resulting in net gains of approximately $24,266. The communities sold were located in
Atlanta, Georgia; Jackson, Mississippi; and Nashville, Tennessee, For the year ended December 31, 2000, the
aggregate net gain on the sale of assets of $3,208 included the estimated net losses totaling $21,058 on the write-
down to fair value of assets designated as held for sale at December 31, 2000.

At December 31, 2001, the Company had available credit facility borrowing capacity of approximately
$359,000 under its existing credit facilities. The Company’s primary credit facility with total capacity of $320,000
matures in 2004 while a second incremental credit facility of $185,000 renews annually. Management currently
anticipates the renewal of the incremental credit facility although the total capacity will likely be reduced as a result
of the decrease in the Company’s development pipeline. The Company has adequate capacity under these facili-
ties to execute its 2002 business plan without regard to a significant level of asset sales or other secured and
unsecured debt financings.

In the first quarter of 2002, the Company’s unsecured public debt was downgraded from Baal to Baa2
by Moody’s Investor Services and from BBB+ to BBB by Standard & Poor’s. This change in the investment credit
rating of the Company’s debt increased the pricing of its syndicated lines of credit by 10 to 12.5 basis points and
may increase the pricing of new issuances of unsecured debt. In addition, certain of the financial covenants under
the Company’s syndicated line of credit are tied to maintaining an investment grade credit rating. After the recent
downgrade, the Company remains an investment grade rated company by both Moody’s Investors Services and
Standard & Poors. Management does not anticipate this downgrade to affect the Company’s ability to obtain the
anticipated level of debt financing. Should the Company not maintain its investment credit rating, its total divi-
dend pavout, exclusive of the portion of the dividend attributable to capital gains from asset sales up to $30,000,
would be limited to 95% versus 100% of Consolidated Income Available for Distribution, as defined. Management
believes the Company’s current business plan and financing strategy are consistent with the fundamentals of main-

taining its investment grade ratings.

Unsecured Lines of Credit

The Company utilizes 2 $320,000 three-year syndicated revolving line of credit (the “Revolver”), for its short-
term financing. At December 31, 2001, the stated interest rate for the Revolver was LIBOR plus 0.75% or prime
minus 0.25%. Subsequent to year end, the stated rate increased to LIBOR plus 0.85% as a result of credit rating
agency downgrade on the Company’s senior unsecured debt. The Revolver provides for the rate to be adjusted

up or down based on changes in the credit ratings on the Company’s senior unsecured debt. The Revolver also
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includes a money market competitive bid option for short-term funds up to $160,000 at rates below the stated line

rate. The credit agreement for the Revolver contains customary representations, covenants and events of default,
including covenants which restrict the ability of the Operating Partnership to make distributions, in excess of stated
amounts, which in turn restrict the discretion of the Company to declare and pay dividends. In general, during any
fiscal year the Operating Partnership may only distribute up to 100% of the Operating Partnership’s consolidated
income available for distribution (as defined in the credit agreement) exclusive of distributions of up to $30,000 of
capital gains for such vear. The credit agreement contains exceptions to these limitations to allow the Operating
Partnership to make distributions necessary to allow the Company to maintain its status as a REIT. The Company does
not anticipate that this covenant will adversely affect the ability of the Operating Partnership to make distributions, or
the Company to declare dividends, under the Company’s current dividend level. The Revolver matures in April 2004.

The Company also has in place an additional $185,000 line of credit facility for general corporate purposes.
This line matures in April 2002 and carries terms substantially equal to the Revolver. Management expects the
Company to renew and extend this credit facility, although the total capacity and terms may vary. There were no out-
standing borrowings under this facility at December 31, 2001.

Additionally, the Company has a $20,000 unsecured line of credit with Wachovia Bank of Georgia, N.A. (the
“Cash Management Line”). The Cash Management Line bears interest at LIBOR plus 0.75% or prime minus .25%
and matures in February, 2003. Management believes the Cash Management Line will be renewed at maturity with

similar terms.

Senior and Medium-Term Notes

In 2001, the Company issued $50,000 of 6.71% senior unsecured notes due in 2006. The net proceeds from the notes
were used to repay outstanding indebtedness. In 2001, the Company repaid the outstanding balance of one medium-
term note issuance totaling $37,000 and one senior note issuance totaling $30,000 at their scheduled maturing dates.

All of the unsecured notes are subject to certain covenants, including those governing the Company’s total leverage.

Stock Repurchase Program

The Company’s Board of Directors has approved the purchase of up to $200,000 of the Company’s outstanding stock.
In the fourth quarter of 2000, the Company began repurchasing shares of its common stock in accordance with the
announced stock repurchase program using funds from operating cash flow and the sale of properties. Purchases will be
made from time to time in the open market and it is expected that funding of the program will come primarily from the
proceeds from asset sales. For the year ended December 31, 2001, the Company repurchased 2,370,100 shares of com-
mon stock at a total cost of $87,506. Treasury stock activity for the year ended December 31, 2001 was as follows:

TREASURY STOCK
Shares Amount
Balance at December 31, 2000 808,596 $ 28,903
Acquisitions of common stock 2,370,100 87,506
Other additions 1,902 70
Distribution under Employee Stock Plan {360,953) (12,906)
Balance at December 31, 2001 2,819,645 $ 103,573

Additionally, during the fourth quarter of 2001, the Company repurchased 100,000 shares of its preferred
stock for $5,100. The stock repurchase activity in 2001 and 2000 was consistent with the Company’s stated objective
to acquire stock when the price per share is below the Company’s internal estimate of the fair market value of its net
assets. Management has indicated it will be opportunistic with respect to additional share repurchases and intends to

finance additional repurchases with asset sale proceeds rather than additional borrowings.
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Schedule of Indebtedness
The following table reflects the Company’s indebtedness at December 31, 2001 and 2000:

DECEMBER 31,
Payment Interest Maturity
Description Terms Rate Date™ 2001 2000
Senior Notes (Unsecured)
Senior Notes Int. 6.71% -7.70% | 2003-2010 ; $ 360,000 | § 310,000
Medium Term Notes Int. 6.69% - 8.12%* | 2004-2015 323,000 360,000
Northwestern Mutual Life Int. 8.37% 2002 20,000 50,000
703,000 720,000
Unsecured Lines of Credit & Other
Revolver N/A LIBOR + 0.75%% 2004 155,000 18,000
Cash Management Line N/A LIBOR + 0.75% 2003 11,202 4925
Other N/A 5.00%® 2021 2,000 2,000
168,202 24,925
Conventional Fixed Rate (Secured)
FNMA Prin. and Int. 6.975%% 2029 102,200 103,200
Northwestern Mutual Life Prin. and Int. 7.69% 2007 50,527 51,238
Northwestern Mutual Life Prin. and Int. 6.50%¢ 2009 47,681 48,601
Northwestern Mutual Life Prin. and Int. 7.69% 2007 28,268 28,666
Parkwood Townhomes™ Prin. and Int. 7.375% 2014 762 799
229,438 232,504
Tax Exempt Fioating Ratre Bonds
(Secured) Int. 1.65%" 2025 235,880 235,880
Tortal $1,336,520 | $§ 1,213,309

(1) All outstanding indebtedness can be prepaid at any time, subject to cevtain prepayment penalties.

(2) Contains $100,000 of Mandatory Par Put Remarketed Secuvities. The annual intevest vate on these securities to 2005 (the “Remarketing Date™)
is 6.85%. On the Remarketing Date, they are subject to mandatory tender for remarketing.

(3) Represents stated rate. Stated vite increased to LIBOR plus 0.85% in 2002. At December 31, 2001, the outstanding balance of the Revolver consisted
of “money marker” loans with an average interest rate of 2.46%.

(4) This loan is intevest free for the first three years, with interest ar 5.00% thereafter.
(5) In 2000, interest rate was fixed at 6.975%, inclusive of credit enbancement and other fees, ro 2009 through an interest vate swap arrangement.
(6) This note bears interest ar 6.50% with an effective rate of 7.30%.

(7) FNMA credit enhanced bond indebredness. Interest based on FNMA “AAA” rax exempt rate plus credit enbancement and other fees of 0.639%.
Interest rate represents vate ar December 31, 2001 before credit enbancements. The Company has ontstanding intevest vate cap arvangements that
limit the Company’s exposure to increases in the base intevest rate to 5%.

Capitalization of Fixed Assets and Community Improvements

The Company has established a policy of capitalizing those expenditures relating to acquiring new assets, materially
enhancing the value of an existing asset, or substantially extending the useful life of an existing asset. All expenditures
necessary to maintain a community in ordinary operating condition are expensed as incurred. For new development
communities, carpet replacements are expensed as incurred during the first five years (which corresponds to the esti-

mated depreciable life). Thereafter, carpet replacements are capitalized.
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Acquisition of assets and community improvement expenditures for the vears ended December 31, 2001 and

2000 are summarized as follows:

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,
2001 2000
New community development and acquisition activity S 232,569 $ 387,649
Revenue generating additions and improvements:
Property renovations 4,01° 6,638
Submetering of water service . 207 32
Nonrecurring capital expenditures:
Vehicle access control gates : 749 403
Other community additions and improvements 1,786 5,173
Recurring capital expenditures:
Carpet replacements 2,935 2,890
Other community additions and improvements 7,506 6,267
Corporate additions and improvements : 3,021 3,441
$ 252,792 $ 412,493

Inflation

Substantially all of the leases at the Communities allow, at the time of renewal, for adjustments in the rent payable
thereunder, and thus may enable the Company to seek increases in rents. The substantial majority of these leases are
for one year or less and the remaining leases are for up to two years. At the expiration of a lease term, the Company’s
lease agreements provide that the term will be extended unless cither the Company or the lessee gives at least sixty
(60) days written notice of termination; in addition, the Company’s policy permits the earlier termination of a lease
by a lessee upon thirty (30) days written notice to the Company and the payment of one month’s additional rent as
compensation for early termination. The short-term nature of these leases generally serves to reduce the risk to the

Company of the adverse effect of inflation.

FunDs FROM OPERATIONS AND CASH AVAILABLE FOR DISTRIBUTION

Historical Funds from Opevations

The Company considers funds from operations (“FFO”) a useful measure of performance of an equity REIT. FFO is
defined to mean net incomé¢ available to commeon shareholders determined in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles (“GAAP”), excluding gains (or losses) from debt restructuring and sales of property, plus depre-
ciation of real estate assets, and after adjustment for unconsolidated partnerships and joint ventures, FFO should not
be considered as an alternative to net income (determined in accordance with GAAP) as an indicator of the Company’s
financial performance or to cash flow from operating activities (determined in accordance with GAAP) as a measure
of the Company’s liquidity, nor is it necessarily indicative of sufficient cash flow to fund all of the Company’s needs.
Cash available for distribution (“CAD?”) is defined as FFO less capital expenditures funded by operations and loan
amortization payments. The Company believes that in order to facilitate a clear understanding of the consolidated his-
torical operating results of the Company, FFO and CAD should be examined in conjunction with net income as

presented in the consolidated financial statements and data included elsewhere in this report.
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FFO and CAD for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000, and 1999 presented on a historical basis are

summarized in the following table:

Caleulation of Funds from Operations and Cash Available for Distribution

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 3I,
2001 2000 1999

Net income available to common shareholders . $ 75,159 $ 88,645 $ 92,642
Cumulative effect of accounting change, net of minorit}./ interest 613 — —
Extraordinary item, net of minority interest 77 — 458
Minority interest of common unitholders 10,203 11,691 12,598
Net (gain) loss on sale of assets (23,942) (3,208) 1,522
Adjusted net income 62,110 97,128 107,220
Depreciation of real estate assets 71,023 66,283 55,361
Funds from Operations™ 133,133 163,411 162,581
Recurring capital expenditures®® (10,441) (9,157) (8,641)
Non-recurring capital expenditures® (2,535) (5,576) (2,971)
Loan amortization payments (3,126) (1,869) (81)
Cash Available for Distribution $ 117,031 $ 146,809 $ 150,888
Revenue generating capital expenditures® - $ 4,226 $ 6,670 $ §,011
Cash Flow Provided By (Used In):

Operating activities $ 161,564 $ 185,073 $ 153,038

Investing activities $ (51,213) $ (255,986) $ (317,960)

Financing activities $  (113,007) | § 72,502 $ 149,638
Weighted average common shares outstanding - basic 38,052,673 39,317,725 38,460,689
Weighted average common shares outstanding - dituted 38,267,939 39,852,514 38,916,987
Weighted average common shares and units outstanding — basic 43,211,834 44,503,290 43,663,373
Weighted average common shares and units outstanding — diluted 43,427,100 45,038,079 44119671

(1) The Company uses the National Association of Real Estate Investment Trusts (“NAREIT”) definition of FFO. Effective January 1, 2000, NAREIT
amended its definition of FFO to inciude in FFO all non-vecurring transactions, except those thar ave defined as extraordinary under generally accepted
accounting principles (‘GAAP”). The Company adopted this new definition effective January 1, 2000. FFO for any period means the Consolidated
Net Income of the Company and its subsidiaries for such peviod excluding gains or losses from debt vestructuring and sales of property plus depreciation
of real estate assets, and after adjustment for unconsolidated partnerships and joint ventures, all determined on a consistent basis in accordance with
GAAP. FFO presented berein is not necessarily comparable to FFO presented by other veal estate companies because not all veal estate companies use
the same definition. The Company’s FFO is comparable to the FFO of real estate companies that use the curvent NAREIT definition. FFO should not
be consideved as an alternative ro net income as an indicaror of the Company’s financial performance or to cash flow from operatring activities (deter-
mined in accordance with GAAP) as a measure of the Company’s liquidity, nov is it necessarily indicarive of sufficient cash flow to fund all of the
Company’s needs ov ability to service indebtedness or make distributions.

(2) Recurring capital expenditures consisted primarily of $2,935, $2,890 and $2,864 of carpet replacement and 37,500, 86,267 and $5,777 of other com-
munity additions and improvements to existing communitics for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000, and 1999, respectively. Since the Company
does not add back the depreciation of non-veal estate assets in its calculation of FFO, capital expenditures of $3,021, §3,441, and $6,811 are excluded
from the caleulation of CAD for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000, and 1999, respectively.

(3) Non-recurring capital expenditures consisted of the additions of vebicle access control gates to communities of $749, §403, and $794 and other
community additions and improvements of 81,786, 85,173, and $2,177 for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000, and 1999, respectively.

(4) Revenue generating capital expenditures included mafor renovations of communities in the amount of $4,019, $6,638, and $7,826 for the years
ended December 31, 2001, 2000, and 1999, respectively, and sub-metering of water sevvice to communities in the amounts of $207, $32, and $185
for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000, and 1999, respectively.

Di1scLOSURE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Certain statements made in this report, and other written or oral statements made by or on behalf of the Company,
may constitute “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of the federal securities laws. Statements regarding
future events and developments and the Company’s future performance, as well as management’s expectations, beliefs,
plans, estimates, or projections relating to the future, are forward-looking statements within the meaning of these laws.

Examples of such statements in this report include our expectations with regard to net operating income and funds
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from operations for 2002, our expectations with regard to occupancy levels and rent growth, our expectations with

regard to our dividend payments, our ability to meet new construction, development, and other long-term liquidity
requirements, and our ability to execute asset sales in connection with our asset sale and capital recycling program. All
forward-looking statements are subject to certain risks and uncertainties that could cause actual events to differ mate-
rially from those projected. Management believes that these forward-looking statements are reasonable; however,
you should not place undue reliance on such statements. These statements are based on current expectations and
speak only as of the date of such statements. The Company undertakes no obligation to publicly update or revise any
forward-looking statement, whether as a result of future events, new information or otherwise. Additional informa-
tion concerning the risk and uncertainties listed above, and other factors that you may wish to consider, is contained
elsewhere in the Company’s filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
The following are some of the factors that could cause the Company’s actual results to differ materially from
the expected results described in the Company’s forward-looking statements:
v future local and national economic conditions, including changes in job growth, interest rates, the availability
of financing, and other factors; )
o demand for apartments in the Company’s markets and the effect on occupancy and rental rates;
o the impact of competition on the Company’s business, including competition for tenants and
development locations;
o the Company’s ability to obtain financing or self-fund the development of additional apartment communities;
o the uncertainties associated with the Company’s current real estate development, including actual costs exceed-
ing the Company’s budgets or development periods exceeding expectations;
a conditions affecting ownership of residential real estate and general conditions in the multi-family residential
real estate market;
o the effects of changes in accounting policies and other regulatory matters detailed in the Company’s filings with
the Securities and Exchange Commission and uncertainties of litigation; and

o the Company’s ability to continue to qualify as a real estate investment trust under the Code.

QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES AROUT MARKET RISK

Interest Rate Sensitivivy
The Company’s primary market risk exposure is interest rate risk. At December 31, 2001, the Company had $293,402
of variable rate debt tied to LIBOR. In addition, the Company had $235,880 in variable tax-exempt debt with inter-
est based on the FNMA “AAA” tax exempt rate In addition, the Company has interest rate risk associated with fixed
rate debt at maturity. The discussion in this Interest Rate Sensitivity section is the same for the Company and the
Operating Partnership, except that all indebtedness described herein has been incurred by the Operating Partnership.
Management has and will continue to manage interest rate risk as follows:
@ maintain a conservative ratio of fixed rate, long-term debt to total debt such that variable rate exposure is kept
at an acceptable level;
o fix certain long-term variable rate debt through the use of interest rate swaps or interest rate caps with appro-
priately matching maturities;
o use treasury locks where appropriate to fix rates on anticipated debt transactions; and
= take advantage of favorable market conditions for long-term debt and /or equity.

Management uses various financial models and advisors to achieve these objectives.

The table below provides information about the Company’s derivative financial instruments and other financial
instruments that are sensitive to changes in interest rates. For debt obligations, the table presents principal cash
flows and related weighted average interest rates by expected maturity dates. For interest rate swap and cap arrange-
ments, the table presents notional amounts and weighted average interest rates by (expected) contractual maturity

dates. Notional amounts are used to calculate the contractual payments to be exchanged under the contract. Weighted
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average variable rates are based upon implied forward rates in the yield curve at the reporting date. The information

is presented in U.S. dollar equivalents, which is the Company’s reporting currency.

EXPECTED MATURITY DATE
2002 2003 2004 | 2005 2006 Thereafter Total | Fair Value
Long-Term Debt:
Fixed rate § 22,217|S 102,381|$ 25,554|$ 177,748|$ 77949|$ 401,389|$ 807,238|% 847,563
Average interest rate 7.42% 7.44% 7.46% 7.29% 7.35% 6.84% 7.44%
Floating rate®
LIBOR-based:
Cash management
line® 11,202 — — — — — 11,202 11,202
MTN — — —| 25000 — —| 25,000 25,000
Revolver® — - 155,000 — — — 155,000 155,000
FNMA® 1,150 1,235 1,335 1,435 1,550 95495 102,200 102,200
Total LIBOR-based 12,352 1235 156,335 26,435 1,550 95495 293,402| 293,402
Tax-exempt® — — — — — 235,880 235,880 235,880
Total floating
rate debt 12,352 1,235 156,335 26,435 1,550 331,375 529,282 529,282
Total debt $ 34,569($% 103,616/ 181,889|$ 204,183|8 79,499|$ 732,764|%1,336,520|51,376,845

(1) Interest on these debt instruments is based on LIBOR vanging from LIBOR plus 0.75% to 0.85% above LIBOR, At December 31, 2001, the LIBOR
rate was 1.88%. See Schedule of Indebtedness in Management’s Discussion and Analysis for vates on individual debt instruments.

(2) Assumes the Company’s Revolver and Cash Management Line are vepaid at the marurivy date. Management believes these lines will be renewed ar
wiaturity with similar terms.

(3) In December 2000, the Company entered into a swap transaction that fixed the rare on the note at 6.975%, inclusive of credit enbancement and other
fees, from January 1, 2001 through July 31, 2009.

(4) At December 31, 2001, the FNMA “AAA” tax exempt vate was 1.65%. Interest on these debt tnstruments is equal to the FNMA “AAA” tax exempt
rate plus credit enbancement and other fees of 0.639%. The Company bas purchased an intevest rate cap that limits the Company’s exposure to increases
in the base rate to 5.00%.

Average Average Expected
Notional Pay Rate/ Receive Settlement | Fair Value
Interest Rate Derivatives Amount Cap Rate Rate Date Asset (Liab.)
Interest Rate Swaps
Variable to fixed S 104,000

amortizing to

$ 90,270 6.04% 1-month LIBOR | 7/31/09 | $§ (4,799)

Variable to fixed $ 25,000 6.53% 3-month LIBOR | 2/01/05 (1,846)
Interest rate cap $ 76,000 5.00% — 2/01/03 5
Interest rate cap $ 141,230 5.00% — 2/01/03 9
Interest rate cap $ 18,650 5.00% — 2/01/03 1

$ (6,630)

As more fully described in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, the interest rate swap and cap
arrangements are carried on the consolidated sheet at the fair value shown above in accordance with SFAS No. 133,
as amended. If interest rates under the Company’s ﬂoadng rate LIBOR-based and tax-exempt borrowings, in excess
of the $102,200 FNMA borrowings effectively converted to fixed rates discussed above, fluctuated by 1.0%, inter-
est costs to the Company, based on outstanding borrowings at December 31, 2001, would increase or decrease by

approximately $4,300 on an annualized basis.
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To THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SHAREHOLDERS OF PosT PROPERTIES, INC.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and the related consolidated statements of operations,
of shareholders’ equity and accumulated earnings and of cash flows present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of Post Properties Inc. at December 31, 2001 and 2000, and the results of their operations and their cash
flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2001 in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s
management; our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We con-
ducted our audits of these statements in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America, which require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the finan-
cial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates
made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide
a reasonable basis for our opinion.

As discussed in Note 1, Post Properties, Inc. adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 133,
“Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities,” as amended by Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 138, on January 1, 2001.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Atlanta, Georgia
March 5, 2002
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(Dollars in thousands)

DECEMBER 31,

2001 2000
Assets
Real estate assets
Land $ 277,146 281,525
Building and improvements 1,794,658 1,681,798
Furniture, fixtures, and equipment 212,390 190,968
Construction in progress 419,449 509,702
Investments in and advances to unconsolidated real estate entities 89,692 —
Land held for future development 23,658 28,995
2,816,993 2,692,988
Less: accumulated depreciation (393,014) (345,121)
Assets held for sale 39,419 122,047
Real estate assets 2,463,398 2,469,914
Cash and cash equivalents 4,803 7,459
Restricted cash 1,315 1,272
Deferred charges, net 18,203 21,700
Other assets 50,632 50,892
Total assets $ 2,538,351 2,551,237
Liabilities And Shareholders’ Equity
Notes payable $ 1,336,520 1,213,309
Accrued interest payable 9,660 10,751
Dividend and distribution payable 33,208 33,933
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 72,277 67,136
Security deposits and prepaid rents 9,016 9,407
Total liabilities 1,460,681 1,334,536
Minority interest of preferred unitholders in Operating Partnership 70,000 70,000
Minority interest of common unitholders in Operating Partnership 106,153 118,091
Commitments and contingencies —_ —
Shareholders’ equity
Preferred stock, $.01 par value, 20,000,000 authorized:
8 2% Series A Cumulative Redeemable Shares, liquidation
preference $50 per share, 900,000 and 1,000,000 shares issued
and outstanding at December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively 9 10
7 %% Series B Cumulative Redeemable Shares, liquidation preference
$25 per share, 2,000,000 shares issued and outstanding 20 20
7 %% Series C Cumulative Redeemable Shares, liquidation preference
$25 per share, 2,000,000 shares issued and outstanding 20 20
Common stock, $.01 par value, 100,000,000 authorized:
39,676,204 and 39,662,192 shares issued, 36,856,559 and 38,853,596
shares outstanding at December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively 396 396
Additional paid-in capital 1,010,954 1,057,067
Accumulated earnings — —
Accumulated other comprehensive income (5,864) —
Deferred compensation (445) —
1,005,090 1,057,513
Less common stock in treasury, at cost, 2,819,645 shares and 808,596
shares at December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively (103,573) (28,903)
Total shareholders’ equity 901,517 1,028,610
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $ 2,538,351 2,551,237

The accompanying notes arve an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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(Dollars in thousands, excepr pey shave

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,

2001 2000 1999
Revenues
Rental $ 368,042 $ 365,895 $ 318,697
Third-party services 14,088 15,249 12,486
Interest 1,771 1,922 764
Other 14,413 16,766 13,980
Total revenues 398,314 399,832 345,927
Expenses
Property operating and maintenance (exclusive of items
shown separately below) 140,630 131,349 113,152
Depreciation 76,178 71,113 58,013
Third-party services 13,023 13,092 10,829
Interest 57,930 50,303 33,192
Amortization of deferred loan costs 1,978 1,636 1,496
General and administrative 13,745 10,066 7,788
Minority interest in consolidated property partnerships (2,098) (1,695) 511
Total expenses 301,386 275,864 224981
Income before net gain (loss) on sale of assets, other charges,
minority interest of unitholders in Operating Partnership,
cumulative effect of accounting change and extraordinary item 96,928 123,968 120,946
Net gain (loss) on sale of assets 23,942 3,208 (1,522)
Project abandonment, employee severance and
impairment charges (17.,450) (9,365) —
Minority interest of preferred unitholders in
Operating Partnership (5,600) (5,600) (1,851)
Minority interest of common unitholders in
Operating Partnership (10,203) (11,691) (12,598)
Income before cumulative effect of accounting change and
extraordinary item 87,617 100,520 104,975
Cumulative effect of accounting change, net of
minority interest (613) — —
Extraordinary item, net of minority interest (77) — (458)
Net income 86,927 100,520 104,517
Dividends to preferred shareholders (11,768) (11,875) (11,875)
Net income available to common shareholders $ 75,159 $ 88,645 $ 92,642
Enarnings per common share — basic
Income before cumulative effect of accounting change and
extraordinary item (net of preferred dividends) $ 2.00 $ 2.25 $ 2.42
Cumulative effect of accounting change, net of
minority interest (0.02) — —
Extraordinary item, net of minority interest — — (0.01)
Net income available to common shareholders $ 1.98 $ 2.25 $ 2.41
Weighted average common shares outstanding 38,052,673 39,317,725 38,460,689
Eavnings per common shave — diluted
Income before cumulative effect of accounting change and
extraordinary item (net of preferred dividends) $ 1.98 S 222 $ 2.39
Cumulative effect of accounting change, net of
minority interest (0.02) — —
Extraordinary item, net of minority interest — — (0.01)
Net income available to common shareholders $ 1.26 $ 2.22 S 2.38
Weighted average common shares outstanding 38,267,939 39,852,514 38,916,987
Dividends declared $ 3.12 $ 3.04 $ 2.80

The accompanying notes arve an insegral pare of these consolidated financial statements.
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FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 3I, 2001, 2000, AND 1999

Accumulated

Additional Other
Preferred | Common Paid-in Accumulated |Comprehensive| — Deferred Treasury
i Stock Stock Capiral Earnings Income Compensation Stock Total

Sharcholders’ Equity and

Accumulated Earnings,

December 31, 1998 $ 50| $ 3801 81,051,256 | $ — 13 — |3 — |8 — | $1,051,686
Offering cost of redeemable

preferred units — — (1,810) — — — — (1,810)

Proceeds from Dividend
Reinvestment and Employee
Stock Purchase Plan — 8 23,304 — — — — 23,312

Adjustment for minority interest
of unitholders in Operating
Partnership at dates of

capital transactions — — 857 — — — — 857
Net income — — — 104,517 — — — 104,517
Dividends to preferred sharcholders — — — (11,875} — — — (11,875)
Dividends declared and paid to

common shareholders — — (15,183) (65,458) — — — (80,641)
Dividends declared to

common shareholders — — — (27,184) — — — (27,184)

Sharcholders® Equity and
Accumulated Earnings,
December 31, 1999 § 508 38381058424 | $ o= |8 — 13 — 193 — | $1,058,862

Proceeds from Dividend
Reinvestment and Employee
Stock Purchase Plan — 8 29,029 — — — 152 29,189

Adjustment for minority interest
of unitholders in Operating
Partnership at dates of

capital transactions — — 320 — — — — 320
Net income — — — 100,520 — — — 100,520
Acquisition of treasury stock — — — — — — (29,055) (29,055)
Dividends to preferred shareholders — — — (11,875) — — — (11,875)
Dividends to common shareholders — — (30,706) (88,645) — — — (119,351)
Shareholders’ Equity and

Accumulated Earnings,

December 31, 2000 $ S01$ 396 | 81,057,067 | 8 — |3 — i3 — | $ (28,903)} $1,028,610
Comprehensive income
Net income — — — 86,927 — — — 86,927
Cumulative effect of adoption of

SFAS 133, net of minority interest — — — — (1,299) — — (1,299)
Net change in derivative value,

net of minority interest — — — — (4,565) — — (4,565)
Total comprehensive income 81,063 4
Proceeds from Dividend

Reinvestment and Employee

Stock Purchase Plans — — (3,541) — — — 12,307 8,766
Preferred Stock repurchase (1) — (5,099) — — — — (5,100)
Adjustment for minority interest

of unitholders in Operating v

Partnership at dates of

capital transactions — — 5,194 — — — — 5,194
Restricted stock issuances,

net of forfeitures — — 46 — — (616) 570 _
Amortizaton of deferred

compensation — — — — — 171 — 171
Treasury stock acquisitions — — — — — — (87,547) (87,547)
Dividends to preferred shareholders —_ — — (11,768) — — — (11,768)
Dividends to common shareholders — — (42,713) (75,159) — — — (117,872)
Sharcholders’ Equity and

Accumulated Earnings,

December 31, 2001 $ 49| % 396 | $1,010,954 | § — i3 (5,864)| $ (445)| $ (103,573)| $ 901,517

The accompanying notes are an inregral pave of these consolidated financial statements.
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(Dollars in thousands)

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31I,

2001 2000 1999

Cash Flows From Operating Activities
Net income $ 86,927 $ 100,520 $ 104,517

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided
by operating activities:

Net (gain) loss on sale of assets (23,942) (3,208) 1,522
Minority interest of preferred unitholders in '

Operating Partnership 5,600 5,600 1,851
Minority interest of common unitholders in )

Operating Partnership 10,203 11,691 12,598
Equity in loss of unconsolidated entities 186 — —
Cumulative effect of accounting change,

net of minority interest 613 — —
Extraordinary item, net of minority interest 77 — 458
Depreciation 76,178 71,113 58,013
Amortization of deferred loan costs 1,978 1,636 1,496

Changes in assets, (increase) decrease in:
Restricted cash (43) 108 (32)
Other assets (1,626) (8,904) (24,735)
Deferred charges (929) (1,591) (4,106)
Changes in liabilities, increase (decrease) in:
Accrued interest payable (1,091) 1,591 1,551
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 7,824 6,133 (402)
Security deposits and prepaid rents (321) 384 307
Net cash provided by operating activities 161,564 185,073 153,038

Cash Flows From Investing Activities
Construction and acquisition of real estate assets,

net of payables (220,297) (362,981) (286,696)
Net proceeds from sale of assets 220,122 157,265 16,587
Capitalized interest F (22,124) (25,426) (21,417)
Recurring capital expenditures (10,441) (9,157) (8,641)
Corporate additions and improvements (3,021) (3,441) (6,811)
Non-recurring capital expenditures (2,535) (5,576) (2,971)
Revenue-generating capital expenditures (4,226) (6,670) (8,011)
Investment in and advances to unconsolidated entities (8,691) — —
Net cash used in investing activities (51,213) (255,986) (317,960)
Cash Flows From Financing Activities
Debt proceeds 710,142 440,001 279,000
Payment of financing costs (300} (3,128) (1,495)
Proceeds from Dividend Reinvestment and

Employee Stock Purchase Plans 8,766 26,754 23,312
Proceeds from preferred units, net of offering costs — — 68,190
Debt payments (586,931) (216,275) (89,425)
Treasury stock acquisitions (87,547) (24,912) —
Preferred stock repurchases (5,100) — —
Distributions to preferred unitholders (5,600) (5,600) (1,384)
Distributions to common unitholders (16,018) (15,458) (14,318)
Dividends paid to preferred shareholders (11,768) (11,875) (11,875)
Dividends paid to common shareholders (118,651) (117,005) (102,367)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities (113,007) 72,502 149,638
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (2,656) 1,589 (15,284)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period 7,459 5,870 21,154
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period $ 4,803 S 7,459 S 5,870

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial starements.

Post Properties, Inc. 35




Ei » VN?OT:E’S TO CONSOLIDATED Fi N‘A.‘N‘C'IGAL STATEMENTS

(Dollars in thousands except per share data)

NOTE 1. ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Organization

Post Properties, Inc. (the “Company” or “PPI”) through its majority-owned subsidiary, Post Apartment Homes, L.P.
(the “Operating Partnership”) currently owns and manages or is in the process of developing apartment communities
located in the Atlanta, Dallas, Tampa, Orlando, Washington, D.C., Virginia, Nashville, Houston, Austin, Phoenix,
Denver, Pasadena, New York City, and Charlotte metropolitan areas. At December 31, 2001, approximately 50.7%,
20.7% and 11.5% (on a unit basis) of the Company’s communities are located in the Atlanta, Dallas, and Tampa met-

ropolitan areas, respectively.

Basis of Presentation
The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the consolidated accounts of the Company and the
Operating Partnership. The Company’s investments in nonmajority-owned entities, in which it does not exercise uni-
lateral control but has the ability to exercise significant influence over operating and financial policies, are accounted
for on the equity method of accounting. Accordingly, the Company’s share of the net earnings or losses of these
entities is included in consolidated net income. All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been
eliminated in consolidation. Since units can be redeemed for shares of the Company on a one-for-one basis at the
Operating Partnership’s option, minority interest of unitholders in the operations of the Operating Partnership is cal-
culated based on the weighted average of shares and units outstanding during the period.

Certain items in the 2000 and 1999 consolidated financial statements were reclassified for comparative purposes

with the 2001 consolidated financial statements.

New Accounting Pronouncements
On January 1, 2001, the Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 133,
“Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities,” as amended by SFAS No. 138, “Accounting
for Certain Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities.” This standard established accounting and reporting stan-
dards for derivative and hedging activities and required the Company to recognize all derivative financial instruments
on its balance sheet at fair value. Upon adoption of SFAS No. 133, the Company recorded a derivative instrument lia-
bility of $1,299, net of minority interest, and an adjustment of $1,299, net of minority interest, to accumulated other
comprehensive income, a shareholders’ equity account, representing the fair value of its outstanding interest rate swap
agreements. The Company also recorded a net transition adjustment loss in the statement of operations of $613, net
of minority interest, relating to the write-down of the book value of its interest rate cap agreements to their fair value.
For all outstanding derivative financial instruments and for future use of derivative financial instruments, the
Company designates the specific instruments as a hedge of identified cash flow exposure. The Company formally doc-
uments all relationships between hedging instruments and hedged items, as well as its risk-management objective and
strategy for undertaking various hedged transactions. In this documentation, the Company will specifically identify the
asset, liability, firm commitment, or forecasted transaction that has been designated as a hedged item and will state
how the hedged instrument is expected to hedge the risks related to the hedged item. The Company will formally
measure effectiveness of its hedging relationships both at the hedge inception and on an ongoing basis in accordance
with its risk management policy. The Company may discontinue hedge accounting prospectively when it is determined
that the derivative is no longer effective in offsetting changes in the fair value or cash flows of a hedged item; when
the derivative is expired or sold, terminated or exercised; or when the derivative is re-designated to no longer be a

hedged instrument.
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The Company currently utilizes only qualifying cash flow hedges that are designated specifically to reduce

exposure to interest rate risk by locking in the expected future cash payments on certain designated liabilities. This
is typically accomplished using an interest rate swap or interest rate cap arrangement. For financial reporting pur-
poses, a cash flow hedge is recorded at fair value in the balance sheet. The gain or loss on the effective portion of these
types of cash flow hedges is deferred and recorded as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income until
the hedged transactions are recognized in earnings. The ineffective portion of these cash flow hedges is recorded
immediately in earnings.

At December 31, 2001, the Company has outstanding interest rate swap agreements with a notional value of
$129,000 with maturity dates ranging from 2005 to 2009. For the year ended December 31, 2001, the Company
recorded the unrealized net loss of $4,565, net minority interest, resulting from the change in fair value of these cash
flow hedges as a reduction in accumulated other comprehensive income, a shareholders’ equity account. In addition,
the Company recorded the change in fair value of the ineffective component of its outstanding interest rate cap agree-
ments in its statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2001. This charge against earnings and the fair
value of the interest rate cap agreements as of December 31, 2001 were not significant to the Company’s financial
position or results of operations. In 2002, the Company expects to reclassify out of accumulated other comprehensive
income approximately $1,231.

In 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued several new accounting pronouncements, which are
discussed in the following paragraphs.

SFAS No. 141, “Business Combinations,” which requires all business combinations initiated after June 30, 2001
to be accounted for under the purchase method, was issued in July 2001. SFAS No. 141 supersedes Accounting
Principles Board (“APB”) Opinion No. 16, “Accounting for Pre-acquisition Contingencies of Purchase Enterprises,”
and is effective for all business combinations initiated after June 30, 2001. The adoption of SFAS No. 141 did not
have a significant effect on the Company’s results of operations or its financial position.

SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,” was issued in July 2001. Under SFAS No. 142, the
amortization of goodwill or other intangible assets with indefinite lives is no longer required, but will be subject to
periodic testing for impairment. SFAS No. 142 supersedes APB Opinion No. 17, “Intangible Assets.” The Company
will implement SFAS No. 142 on January 1, 2002. The Company believes the provisions of SFAS No. 142 will not
have a significant effect on its results of operations or its financial position.

SFAS No. 143, “Account for Obligations Associated with Retirement of Long-Lived Assets,” was issued in
August 2001. SFAS No. 143 establishes accounting standards for the recognition and measurement of an asset retire-
ment obligation and its associated asset retirement costs. It also provides accounting guidance for legal obligations
associated with the retirement of tangible long-lived assets. SFAS No. 143 is effective in fiscal years beginning after
June 15, 2002. The Company believes the provisions of SFAS No. 143 will not have a significant effect on its results
of operations or its financial position.

SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets,” that replaces SFAS No.
121, “Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to be Disposed Of,” was issued
in October 2001. SFAS No. 144 requires that long-lived assets be measured at the lower of their carrying amount or
fair value less cost to sell, whether reported in continuing operations or in discontinued operations. The provisions of
SFAS No. 144 are effective for financial statements issued for fiscal vears beginning after December 15, 2001 and the
Company will implement the provisions of SFAS No. 144 on January 1, 2002. The Company believes the provisions

of SFAS No. 144 will not have a significant effect on the Company’s results of operations or its financial position.
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Cost Capitalization

The Company capitalizes those expenditures relating to the acquisition of new assets, the development and con-
struction of new apartment communities, the enhancement of the value of existing assets, and expenditures that
substantially extend the life of existing assets. All other expenditures necessary to maintain a community in ordinary
operating condition are expensed as incurred. Additionally, for new development communities, carpet, vinyl, and
blind replacements are expensed as incurred during the first five years (which corresponds to the estimated deprecia-
ble life). Thereafter, these replacements are capitalized. The Company expenses as incurred all interior and exterior
painting of communities.

The Company capitalizes interest, real estate taxes, and certain internal personnel and associated costs directly
related to apartment communities under development and construction. The incremental personnel and associated
costs are capitalized to projects under development based upon the effort directly identifiable with such projects. The
Company treats each unit in an apartment community separately for cost accumulation, capitalization, and expense
recognition purposes. Prior to the commencement of leasing activities, interest and other construction costs are capi-

talized and reflected on the balance sheet as construction in progress. The Company ceases the capitalization of such

o

costs as the residential units in a community become substantially complete and available for occupancy. In addition,
prior to the completion of units, the Company expenses as incurred substantially all operating expenses (including

pre-opening marketing expenses) of such communities.

Reanl Estate Assets, Depreciation, and Impaivment
Real estate assets are stated at the lower of depreciated cost or fair value, if deemed impaired. Major replacements and
betterments are capitalized and depreciated over their estimated useful lives. Depreciation is computed on a straight-
line basis over the useful lives of the properties (buildings and components and related land improvements — 20—40
years; furniture, fixtures and equipment — 5-10 years).

The Company continually evaluates the recoverability of the carrying value of its real estate assets using the
methodology prescribed in SFAS No. 121, “Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for Long-Lived
Assets to be Disposed Of.” Factors considered by management in evaluating impairments include significant declines
in property operating profits, recurring property operating losses, and other significant adverse changes in general mar-
ket conditions that are considered permanent in nature. If any real estate asset held for investment is considered
impaired, a loss is recorded to reduce the carrying value of the asset to its fair value. If a real estate asset is held for
sale, any estimated loss is recorded to reduce the carrying value of the asset to its fair value less costs to sell. Subsequent
to the classification of assets as held for sale, no further depreciation expense is recorded.

As discussed above, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the
Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets,” that replaces SFAS No. 121. SFAS No. 144 requires that long-lived
assets be measured at the lower of carrying amount or fair value less cost to sell, whether reported in continuing oper-
ations or in discontinued operations. The provisions of SFAS No. 144 are effective for financial statements issued for
fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2001, and the Company will implement the provisions of SFAS No. 144
beginning on January 1, 2002. The Company believes the provisions of SFAS No. 144 will not have a significant effect

on the Company’s net results of operations or its financial position.

Real Estate Assets Held for Sale

Under both SFAS No. 121 and 144, real estate assets held for sale are stated at their fair value less cost to sell.
The Company classifies real estate assets as held for sale when its internal investment committee approves the
sale and the Company has commenced an active program to sell the assets. Subsequent to this classification, no
further depreciation is recorded on the assets. The operating results of real estate assets held for sale are included
in continuing operations in the consolidated statement of operations. Upon the implementation of SFAS No. 144 in
2002, the operating results of real estate assets held for sale and real estate assets sold will be included in discon-

tinued operations in the consolidated statement of operations.
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Revenne Recognition

Rental — Residential properties are leased under operating leases with terms of generally one year or less. Rental income

is recognized when earned, which is not materially different from revenue recognition on a straight-line basis.
Property management and landscaping services — Income is recognized when earned for property management

and landscaping services provided to third parties.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
For purposes of the statement of cash flows, all investments purchased with an original maturity of three months or

less are considered to be cash equivalents.

Restricted Cash
Restricted cash generally is comprised of resident security deposits for communities located in Florida and Tennessee

and required maintenance reserves for communites located in DeKalb County, Georgia.

Deferved Financing Costs

Deferred financing costs are amortized using the interest method over the terms of the related debt.

Per Share Data

Basic earnings per common share with respect to the Company for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and
1999 is computed based upon the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings
per common share is based upon the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the period and includes

the effect of the potential issuance of additional shares if stock options were exercised or converted into common stock.

Use of Estimates in Financial Statements

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires manage-
ment to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and

expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

NOTE 2. DEFERRED CHARGES

Deferred charges consist of the following:
DECEMBER 3I,
2001 2000
Deferred financing costs $ 35,817 $ 36,068
Other 4,527 5,240
40,344 41,308
Less: accumulated amortization (22,141) .( 19,608)
S 18,203 $ 21,700

Post Properties, Inc. 39




" NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Dollars in thousands except per shave data)

3. NOTES PAYABLE

At December 31, 2001 and 2000, the Company’s indebtedness consisted of the following:

Maturity DECEMBER 31,
Description Payment Terms Interest Rate Date™ 2001 2000
Senior Notes (Unsecured)
Senior Notes Int. 6.71% - 7.70% 2003-2010 | $ 360,000 | S 310,000
Medium Term Notes Int. 6.69% - 8.12%® | 2004-2015 323,000 360,000
Northwestern Mutual Life Int. 8.37% 2002 20,000 50,000
703,000 720,000
Unsecured Lines of Credit & Other
Revolver N/A LIBOR + 0.75%® 2004 155,000 18,000
Cash Management Line N/A LIBOR + 0.75% 2003 11,202 4,925
Other N/A 5.00%* 2021 2,000 2,000
168,202 24,925
Conventional Fixed Rate (Secured)
FNMA Prin. and Int. 6.975% 2029 102,200 103,200
Northwestern Mutual Life Prin. and Int. 7.69% 2007 50,527 51,238
Northwestern Mutual Life Prin. and Int. 6.50%¢ 2009 47,681 48,601
Northwestern Mutual Life Prin. and Int. 7.69% 2007 28,268 28,666
Parkwood Townhomes™ Prin. and Int. 7.375% 2014 762 799
229,438 232,504
Tax-Exempt Floating Rate
Bonds (Secured) Int. 1.65%" 2025 235,880 235,880
Total $1,336,520 | $ 1,213,309

(1) All outstanding indebredness can be prepaid at any time, subject to certain prepayment penalties.

(2) Contains $100,000 of Mandatory Par Put Remarketed Securities. The annual intevest rate on these securities to 2005 (the “Remarkering Date”)
is 6.85%. On the Remarketing Date, they are subject to mandatory tender for vemarketing.

(3) Represents stared rate. Stated rate increased to LIBOR plus 0.85% in 2002. At December 31, 2001, the outstanding balance of the Revolver consisted
of “money market” loans with an average interest vate of 2.46%.

(4) This loan is intevest free for the first three years, with intevest at 5.00% theveafter.
(5) In 2000, intevest vate was fixed atr 6.975%, inclusive of credit enbancement and other fees, to 2009 through an interest rate swap arvangement.
(6) This note bears intevest at 6.50% with an effective rate of 7.30%.

(7) ENMA credit enhanced bond indebtedness. Intevest based on FNMA “AAA” tax exempt vate plus credit enbancement and other fees of 0.639%.
Interest vate represents vate at December 31, 2001 befove credit enbhancements. The Company bas ontstanding intevest vate cap arrangements
that limit the Company’s exposure to increases in the base intevest rate to 5%.

Senior and Medium-Term Notes

In 2001, the Company issued $50,000 of 6.71% senior unsecured notes due in 2006. The net proceeds from the notes
were used to repay outstanding indebtedness. In 2001, the Company repaid the outstanding balance of one medium-
term note issuance totaling $37,000 and one senior note issuance totaling $30,000 at their scheduled maturing dates.
All of the unsecured notes are subject to certain covenants, including those governing the Company’s interest and

fixed charge coverage and total leverage.

Debr Matuvities
The aggregate maturities of the Company’s indebtedness are as follows!":

2002 $ 23,367
2003 103,616
2004 26,889
2005 204,183
2006 79,499
Thereafter 732,764

$ 1,170,318

(1) Excludes outstanding balances on lines of credit discussed below.
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Unsecured Lines of Credit
The Company utilizes a $320,000 three-year syndicated revolving line of credit (the “Revolver”), for its short-term

financing requirements. At December 31, 2001, the stated interest rate for the Revolver was LIBOR plus 0.75% or
prime minus 0.25%. Subsequent to year end, the stated rate increased to LIBOR plus 0.85% as a result of a credit rat-
ing agency downgrade on the Company’s senior unsecured debt. The Revolver provides for the rate to be adjusted up
or down based on changes in the credit ratings on the Company’s senior unsecured debt. The Revolver also includes
a money market competitive bid option for short-term funds up to $160,000 at rates below the stated line rate. The
credit agreement for the Revolver contains customary representations, covenants and events of default, including
covenants which restrict the ability of the Operating Partnership to make distributions, in excess of stated amounts,
which in turn restrict the discretion of the Company to declare and pay dividends. In general, during any fiscal year
the Operating Partnership may only distribute up to 100% of the Operating Partnership’s consolidated income avail-
able for distribution (as defined in the credit agreement) exclusive of distributions of up to $30,000 of capital gains
for such year. The credit agreement contains exceptions to these limitations to allow the Operating Partnership to
make distributions necessary to allow the Company to maintain its status as a REIT. The Company does not antici-
pate that this covenant will adversely affect the ability of the Operating Partnership to make distributions, or the
Company to declare dividends, under the Company’s current dividend level. The Revolver matures in April 2004.

The Company also has in place an additional $185,000 line of credit facility for general corporate purposes.
This line, with an annual renewal, matures in April 2002 and carries terms substantially equal to the Revolver. The
Company expects to renew this credit facility, although the total capacity and terms may vary.

Additionally, the Company has a $20,000 unsecured line of credit with Wachovia Bank of Georgia, N.A.
(the “Cash Management Line”). The Cash Managcment Line bears interest at LIBOR plus 0.75% or prime minus
0.25% and matures in February 2003. Management believes the Cash Management Line will be renewed at maturity

with similar terms.

Intervest Paid

Interest paid (including capitalized amounts of $22,124, $25,426, and $21,417 for the years ended December 31,
2001, 2000, and 1999, respectively), aggregated $82,383, $74,419, and $51,337 for the years ended December 31,
2001, 2000, and 1999, respectively.

Pledged Assets
The aggregate net book value at December 31, 2001 of property pledged as collateral for indebtedness amounted
to approximately $457,038. ‘

Extraovdinary Item
The extraordinary losses for the years ended December 31, 2001 and 1999 of $88 ($77 net of minority interest)
and $521 ($458 net of minority interest), respectively, resulted from costs associates with the early extinguishment

of indebtedness.

NOTE 4. INVESTMENTS IN UNCONSOLIDATED REAL ESTATE ENTITIES

In 2001, the Company contributed two apartment communities under development in Atlanta, Georgia and one apart-
ment community in Pasadena, California to individual limited liability companies (the “Property LLCs”) with an
institutional investor. The Company holds a 35% equity interest in the Property LLCs. The total estimated development
cost of the apartment communities of $144,000 is being funded through member equity contributions proportionate
to the members” ownership interests and through construction financing provided by the Company. No gain or loss was
recognized on the Company’s contribution to the Property LLCs. The Company provides real estate services (devel-
opment, construction and property management) to the Property LLCs. The Company accounts for its investments in
these Property LLCs using the equity method of accounting. The excess of the Company’s investment over its equity
in the underlying net assets of the Property LLCs was approximately $3,123 at December 31, 2001. This excess invest-

ment will primarily be amortized as a reduction to earnings on a straight-line basis over the lives of the related assets,
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The operating results of the Company include its proportionate share of net income (loss) from the investments

in the Property LLCs. A summary of financial information for the Property LLCs in the aggregate is as follows:

DECEMBER 31,

2001
Real estate assets, net $ 115,664
Cash and other 533
Total assets $ 116,197
Construction notes payable to Company $ 77,01
Other liabilities ' 11,892
Total liabilities 88,911
Members’ equity 27,286
Toral liabilities and members’ equity $ 116,197
Company’s equity investment $ 12,673

YEAR ENDED
DECEMBER 31,

2001
Revenue $ 186
Expenses (718)
Net loss $ (532)
Company’s share of net loss ) $ (186)

At December 31, 2001, two of the apartment communities had commenced initial rental operations. The third
community was under construction with an anticipated completion date in 2002. The Company’s share of the net loss
from these investments is included in other revenue in the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

The Company has committed construction financing to the Property LLCs totaling $111,271 ($77,019
funded at December 31, 2001). These loans earn interest at LIBOR plus 1.75% and are secured by the apartment
communities. The loans mature on dates ranging from February 2003 to February 2004 and are expected to be repaid
from the proceeds of permanent project financings. A portion of the construction loan financing from the Company
totaling approximately $50,062 represents an obligation of the institutional investor member of the Property LLCs.

As part of the development and construction services agreements entered into between the Company and the
Property LLCs, the Company guaranteed the maximum total amount for certain construction cost categories subject
to aggregate limits (approximately $14,000). At December 31, 2001, the Company’s estimated obligations under
the agreements total approximately $900. If the Company is unsuccessful in mitigating these estimated costs, the
Company will be required to fund the amounts to the Property LLCs. Any amounts funded will be accounted for as
part of the Company’s investment in the Property LLCs. Additionally, under these agreements, the Company is sub-
ject to project completion requirements, as defined. At December 31, 2001, the Company believes that it will meet

the completion date requirements and not be subject to any additional costs.

NOTE 5. REAL ESTATE ASSETS HELD FOR SALE AND ASSET DISPOSITIONS

The Company classifies real estate assets as held for sale after the approval of its internal investment committee and
after the Company has commenced an active program to sell the assets. At December 31, 2001, the Company has clas-
sified two apartment communities, six tracts of land, and one commercial property as held for sale. These real estate
assets are reflected in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet at $39,419 which represented the lower of cost or
fair value less costs to sell. The Company expects the sale of these assets to occur in 2002.

For the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000, and 1999, the consolidated statements of operations include

net income of $4,071, $4,019, and $3,940, respectively, from communities held for sale at December 31, 2001. For
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the year ended December 31, 2001, depreciation expense of $844 was recognized on these assets prior to the date of
held for sale classification.

In 2001, the Company sold six apartment communities containing 2,799 units for net proceeds of approxi-
mately $210,443. The communities sold were located in Atlanta, Georgia; Dallas, Texas; and Nashville, Tennessee.
Additionally, the Company sold land parcels in Dallas, Texas; Denver, Colorado; and Charlotte, North Carolina, and
a commercial property in Dallas, Texas for aggregate net proceeds of $9,679. These sales resulted in net gains of approx-
imately $16,365. For the year ended December 31, 2001, the aggregate net gain on the sale of assets of $23,942
included the impact of the estimated net losses totaling $11,490 on the write-down to fair value of assets designated
as held for sale at December 31, 2001 and excluded realized losses totaling $19,067 related to assets written down to
their estimated fair value at December 31, 2000.

In 2000, the Company sold cight apartment communities containing 1,984 units for net proceeds of approx-
imately $157,265, resulting in net gains of approximately $24,266. The communities sold were located in Atlanta,
Georgia; Jackson, Mississippi; and Nashville, Tennessee. For the year ended December 31, 2000, the aggregate net
gain on the sale of assets of $3,208 included the estimated net losses totaling $21,058 on the write-down to fair value
of assets designated as held for sale at December 31, 2000.

In 1999, the Company sold one apartment community containing 198 units and other land parcels for net

proceeds of approximately $16,587, resulting in a net loss of $1,522.

NOTE 6. SHAREHOLDERS’> EQUITY/MINORITY INTEREST

Preferved Stock
At December 31, 2001 and 2000, the Company had issued three series of preferred stock with the following
characteristics:
Liquidation Optional Redemption Stated
Preference Redemption Price Dividend
Description (per share) Date® (per share) Rate
Series A $50.00 10/01/26 $50.00 8.5%
Series B $25.00 10/28,/07 $25.00 7.625%
Series C $25.00 02/09/03 $25.00 7.625%

(1) The preferred stock is vedeemable by the Company for cash.

Computation of Earnings per Common Shave
For the vears ended December 31, 2001, 2000, and 1999, basic and diluted earnings per common share for income
before extraordinary item, net of preferred dividends, and income available to common shareholders before cumula-

tive effect of accounting change and extraordinary item has been computed as follows:

YEAR ENDED 2001
Income Shares Per-Share
(Numerator) (Denominator) Amount
Income before cumulative effect of accounting change and
extraordinary item $ 87,617
Less: Preferred stock dividends (11,768)
Basic EPS
Income available to common shareholders before cumulative
effect of accounting change and extraordinary item 75,849 38,052,673 $ 2.00
Effecf of dilutive securities
Options — 215,266
Diluted EPS
Income available to common shareholders +
assumed conversions before the cumulative effect
of accounting change and extraordinary item $ 75,849 38,267,939 $ 1.98
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YEAR ENDED 2000
Income Shares Per-Share
{Numerator) {Denominator) Amount
Income before extraordinary item $ 100,520
Less: Preferred stock dividends (11,875)
Basic EPS
Income available to common shareholders before ‘
extraordinary item 88,645 39,317,725 § 2.25
Effect of dilutive securities
Options — 534,789
Diluted EPS
Income available to common shareholders + assumed conversions
before extraordinary item $ 88,645 39,852,514 $ 2.22
YEAR ENDED 1999
Income Shares Per-Share
(Numerator) (Denominator) Amount
Income before extraordinary item $ 104,975
Less: Preferred stock dividends (11,875)
Basic EPS
Income available to common sharcholders before
extraordinary item 93,100 38,460,689 $ 2.42
Effect of dilutive securities
Options — 456,298
Diluted EPS
Income available to common sharcholders + assumed conversions
before extraordinary item $ 93,100 38,916,987 $ 2.39

Preferved Units

The Operating Partnership has outstanding 2,800,000, 8% Series D cumulative redeemable preferred units (the
“Series D Preferred Units”). The Series D Preferred Units have a liquidation preference of $25.00 per unit and are
redeemable by the Operating Partnership on or after September 3, 2004, at a redemption price of $25.00 per unit.
The Series D Preferred Units are exchangeable into authorized, but unissued Series D preferred stock of the Company,
with identical terms and preferences, on or after September 2, 2009, at the option of the holders. Under certain

circumstances, as defined in the agreement, the Series D Preferred Units may become exchangeable on or after
September 3, 2002, at the option of the holders.

NOTE 7. PROJECT ABANDONMENT, EMPLOYEE SEVERANCE, AND IMPATIRMENT CHARGES

The Company recorded project impairment and abandonment, employee severance and asset impairment charges for

the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000. The charges are summarized as follows:

2001 2000
Project impairment and abandonment $ 8,122 ) 4,389
Employee severance 3,560 3,066
Asset impairment 5,768 1,910
$ 17,450 $ 9,365
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In the fourth quarter of 2001, the Company recorded charges totaling $17,450. These charges, precipitated

by the sharp decline in economic and market conditions, reflect management’s decision to focus its business and new
development strategy on fewer markets, to focus on its core business of owning, developing, and managing multifamily
real estate assets and to do so with a smaller workforce and lower overhead expenses. The project impairment and
abandonment charge of $8,122 represents reserves on certain predevelopment and transaction pursuit costs in mar-
kets the Company will no longer pursue for development opportunities and for certain projects that will no longer
be pursued due to economic and market conditions. The employee severance charge of $3,560 is primarily for sev-
erance costs related to approximately a 100-person senior management and staff workforce reduction plan initiated
and completed in the fourth quarter of 2001. The asset impairment and disposition charge includes a loss of $2,831
related to the disposition of the Company’s corporate aircraft, a loss of $452 on the sale of the Company’s third-party
landscape business discussed more fully below, impairment charges of $1,000 related to the Company’s exit from the
for-sale housing business in all markets, and the write-down to estimated market value of certain internet and tech-
nology investments of $1,485.

At December 31, 2001, approximately $3,632 of these charges, primarily employee severance costs, remained
as an accrued liability on the consolidated balance sheet. These amounts are expected to be paid in 2002.

In the fourth quarter of 2001, the Company sold substantially all of the net assets of Post Landscape Group,
Inc., a subsidiary entity that provided landscape maintenance, design, and installation services to third parties, and
RAM Partners, Inc., a separate subsidiary entity that managed apartment communities for third parties. These
businesses were sold to members of the respective former management teams of the subsidiaries. The Company
financed 100% of the sales price of $5,767 (adjusted for working capital transfers at closing) through purchase money
notes with interest of 9%. The notes require periodic interest, annual principal, and balloon principal payments in
2006. The notes can be extended for two one-year periods. Under generally accepted accounting principles, the trans-
actions have not been recorded as sales at December 31, 2001, and will not be recorded as sales until the conditions
for sale recognition, primarily the receipt of an adequate down payment on the notes, are met. Until these transac-
tions are recognized as sales, the book value of the assets and liabilities of these business are included in the Company’s
consolidated balance sheet. Any collections under the notes will reduce the carrying value of the assets. The sale of the
Post Landscape Group resulted in a loss of $452. Under generally accepted accounting principles, this loss was rec-
ognized in 2001 and included in the project abandonment; employee severance and impairment charges discussed
above. The sale of RAM Partners will result in a gain of approximately $591, which will be recognized when the con-
ditions for full sale recognition are met (expected in 2002).

In the fourth quarter of 2000, the Company recorded charges of $9,365. These charges reflect management’s
decision to restrict its development activities to fewer markets, refine its development investment and for-sale hous-
ing strategies, and make changes in its executive management team. Project abandonment charges totaling $4,389
related to the write-off of predevelopment and pursuit costs in markets in which the Company will no longer pursue
development opportunities and to certain proposed development deals not meeting management’s revised develop-
ment strategy. Employee severance charges are related to the termination costs of four executive positions and five staff
personnel in the Company’s Dallas, Texas regional office. The asset impairment charge of $1,910 includes a charge of
$1,503 related to the write-off of the Company’s investment in a high-speed internet provider that filed for bankruptcy
protection and a charge of $407 related to the exit from the for-sale housing business in certain markets. As of
December 31, 2001, all of the 2000 charges had been paid.
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NOTE 8. INCOME TAXES

The Company has elected to be taxed as a REIT under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”).
To qualify as a REIT, the Company must distribute annually at least 90% of its adjusted taxable income, as defined in
the Code, to its sharcholders and satisfy certain other organizational and operating requirements. It is management’s
current intention to adhere to these requirements and maintain the Company’s REIT status. As a REIT, the Company
generally will not be subject to federal income tax at the corporate level on the taxable income it distributes to its share-
holders. If the Company fails to qualify as a REIT in any taxable year, it will be subject to federal income taxes at
regular corporate rates (including any applicable alternative minimum tax) and may not be able to qualify as a REIT
for four subsequent taxable years. The Company may be subject to certain state and local taxes on its income and prop-
erty, and to federal income taxes and excise taxes on its undistributed taxable income.

The Company utilizes taxable REIT subsidiaries to perform such non-REIT activities as asset management,
leasing, and landscaping services for third parties. These taxable REIT subsidiaries are subject to federal, state, and
local income taxes. For the three vears in the period ended December 31, 2001, the impact of these taxable
REIT subsidiaries’ income taxes and their related tax attributes were not material to the accompanying consolidated

financial statements.

Reconciliation of Net Income to Taxable Income

As discussed in Note 1, the Company conducts substantially all of its operations through its majority-owned subsidiary,
the Operating Partnership. For income tax reporting purposes, the Company receives an allocable share of the
Operating Partnership’s ordinary income and capital gains based on its weighted average ownership adjusted for cer-
tain specially allocated items. All adjustments to net income in the table below are net of amounts attributable to
minority interests and taxable REIT subsidiaries. A reconciliation of net income to taxable income for the years ended
December 31, 2001, 2000, and 1999 is detailed below:

2001 2000 1999
(Estimate) (Actual) (Actual)

Net income $ 86,927 $ 100,520 $ 104,517
Add net loss of taxable REIT subsidiaries 9,375 1,279 906
Adjusted net income 96,302 101,799 105,423

Book/tax depreciation difference (22,987) (19,741) (24,064)

Book/tax difference on gains from real estate sales 36,097 38,015 8,135

Other book /tax differences, net (5,524) (8,497) (5,984)
Taxable income before allocation of taxable capital gains 103,888 111,576 83,510
Income taxable as capital gains (50,400) (38,060) (9,542)
Taxable ordinary income $ 53,488 8 73,516 $ 73,968

Income Tax Charactevization of Dividends
For income tax purposes, dividends to common shareholders are characterized as ordinary income, capital gains or as
a return of a shareholder’s invested capital. A summary of the income tax characterization of the Company’s dividends

paid per common share were as follows for the vears ended December 31, 2001, 2000, and 1999:

2001 2000 1999
Amount % Amount % Amount %
Ordinary income $ 158 51.1% $ 210 70.3% $ 229 83.2%
Capital gains 0.55 17.8% 0.59 20.0% 0.16 5.9%
Unrecaptured Section 1250 gains 0.64 20.5% 0.29 9.6% 0.06 2.1%
Return of capital 0.33 10.6% 0.00 0.1% 0.24 8.8%
$ 3.10 | 100.0% S 298 100.0% $ 275 100.0%
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The income tax characterization of dividends to common sharcholders is based on the calculation of taxable
Earnings and Profits, as defined in the Code. Taxable Earnings and Profits differ from regular taxable income due pri-
marily to differences in the estimated useful lives and methods used to compute depreciation and in the recognition
of gains and losses on the sale of real estate assets.

~ As of December 31, 2001, the net basis for federal income tax purposes, taking into account the special
allocation of gain to the partners contributing property to the Operating Partnership and including minority inter-
est in the Operating Partnership, was lower than the net assets as reported in the Company’s consolidated financial

statements by $6,640.

NOTE 9. SToCcKk-BASED COMPENSATION PLANS

Stock Compensation Plans
At December 31, 2001, the Company had two stock-based compensation plans, the Employee Stock Plan (the “Stock
Plan”), the ESPP and, under the Stock Plan, a stock grant program (the “Grant Plan”) as described below. The

£}

Company applies APB Opinion 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,” and related Interpretations in
accounting for its plans. Accordingly, based upon the criteria of APB Opinion 25, no compensation cost is required
to be recognized for the Stock Plan and the ESPP. The compensation cost, which is required to be charged against
income for the Grant Plan, was $112, $138, and $205 for 2001, 2000, and 1999, respectively. Had compensation
cost for the Company’s Stock Plan and ESPP been determined based on the fair value at the grant dates for awards
under the Plans consistent with the method of SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,” the

Company’s net income and earnings per share would have been reduced to the pro forma amounts indicated below:

2001 2000 1999
Net income available to common shareholders
. As reported $ 75,159 $ 88,645 $ 92,642
Pro forma $ 73,872 $ 86,463 $ 90,459
Net income per common share — basic
As reported $ 1.8 $ 2.25 $ 2.41
] Pro forma $ 1.94 $ 2.20 $ 2.35
Net income per common share - diluted
As reported : $ 1.96 $ 222 $ 2.38
Pro forma S 1.93 $ 2.17 $ 2.32

For purposes of the pro forma presentation, the fair value of each option grant is estimated as of the date of
grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing mode!l. The weighted average of all assumptions used in the calculation

for various grants under all of the Company’s plans during 2001, 2000, and 1999 are as follows:

2001 2000 1999
Dividend vield 8.4% 8.0% 7.3%
Expected volatlity 15.1% 24.8% 15.4%
Risk-free interest rate ' 3.7% to 5.3% 6.7% to 6.9% 4.5% to 6.6%
Expected option life 5 to 7 years 5 to 7 years 5 to 7 vears

Emplovee Stock Plan

Under the Stock Plan, the Company may grant to its employees and directors options to purchase up to 6,000,000
shares of common stock. Of this amount, 550,000 shares are available for grants of restricted stock. Options granted
to any key employee or officer cannot exceed 100,000 shares a year (500,000 shares if such key employee or officer
is a member of the Company’s Executive Committee). The exercise price of each option may not be less than the mar-

ket price on the date of grant and all options have a maximum term of ten years from the grant date.
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A summary of the status of stock option activity under the Stock Plan as of December 31, 2001, 2000 and
1999, is presented below:

2001 2000 1999
Weighted Weighted Weighted
Average Average Average
Exercise Exercise Exercise
Shares Price Shares Price Shares Price
Outstanding at beginning of year 4,271,608 $ 35 4,054,876 $ 34 3,030,852 $ 31
Granted 415,529 37 740,538 38 1,288,232 36
Exercised (262,332) 30 (334,194) 32 (164,053) 30
Forfeited (196,587) 38 (189,612) 38 (100,155) 37
Outstanding at end of year 4,228,218 36 4,271,608 35 4,054,876 35
Options exercisable at year-end 2,962,245 2,413,595 2,290,143
Weighted average fair value of options
granted during the year $ 1.44 $ 4.76 $ 2.08

At December 31, 2001, the range of exercise prices for options outstanding was $27.625 — $44.125 and the
weighted average remaining contractual life was six years.

In 2001, under its existing Stock Plan, the Company granted 17,566 shares of restricted stock to company offi-
cers. The restricted shares vest ratably over a five-year period. The total value of the restricted share grants of $644
was initially reflected in shareholders’ equity as additional capital and as deferred compensation, a contra shareholders’

equity account. Such deferred compensation is amortized ratably into compensation expense over the vesting period.

NOTE 10. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

The employees of the Company are participants in a defined contribution plan pursuant to Section 401 of the Internal
Revenue Code. Beginning in 1996, Company contributions, if any, to this plan are based on the performance of
the Company and are allocated to each participant based on the relative contribution of the participant to the total
contributions of all participants. For purposes of allocating the Company contribution, the maximum employee con-
tribution included in the calculation is 3% of salary. Company contributions of $638, $514, and $346 were made in
2001, 2000, and 1999, respectively.

The Company maintains an Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“ESPP”) to encourage stock ownership by eligi-
ble directors and employees. To participate in the ESPP, (i) directors must not be employed by the Company or the
Operating Partnership and must have been a member of the Board of Directors for at least one month and (ii) an
employee must have been employed full or part-time by the Company or the Operating Partnership for at least one
month. The purchase price of shares of Common Stock under the ESPP is equal to 85% of the lesser of the closing
price per share of Common Stock on the first or last day of the trading period, as defined.

NoTE 11. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Land, Office, and Equipment Leases

The Company is party to two ground leases with terms expiring in years 2040 and 2043 relating to a single operat-
ing community, one ground lease expiring in 2038 for a second operating community, three ground leases expiring
in 2066, 2069 and 2074 for three communities under development and to office, equipment and other operating
leases with terms expiring in years 2001 through 2004. Future minimum lease payments for non-cancelable land,

office, equipment, and other leases at December 31, 2001, are as follows:
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2002 $ 1,918
2003 1,827
2004 1,721
2005 . 1,288
2006 1,306
2007 and thereafter 157,798

The Company incurred $5,998, $5,935, and $5,109 of rent expense for the years ended December 31, 2001,
2000, and 1999, respectively.

Contingencies
The Company is party to various legal actions which are incidental to its business. Management believes that these

actions will not have a material adverse affect on the consolidated balance sheets and statements of operations.

NOTE 12. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In 2001, the Company invested in three Property LLCs that are accounted for under the equity method of accounting
(see Note 4). In 2001, the Company recorded development fees, general construction contract billings, management fees,
and expense reimbursements (primarily personnel costs) of approximately $15,202 from these related companies.
Additionally in 2001, the Company earned interest under the construction loans to the Project LLCs totaling $1,024.

The Company provides landscaping services for executive officers, employees, directors, and other related par-
ties. For the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000, and 1999, the Company received landscaping revenue of §705,
$667, and $610 for such services. Such revenue includes reimbursement of direct and indirect expenses. Additionally,
the Company provides accounting and administrative services to entities controlled by certain executive officers of the
Company. Fees under this arrangement aggregated $25 for each year ended December 31, 2001, 2000, and 1999,
respectively. Also, the Company was contracted to assist in the development of apartment complexes constructed by
a former executive and current sharcholder. Fees under this arrangement were $7, $29, and $100 for the years ended
December 31, 2001, 2000, and 1999, respectively.

In 2001, 2000 and 1999, the Company loaned $2,500, $1,500, and $7,750, respectively, to certain executives.
These loans are payable ten vears from the issue date and bear interest at a rate of 6.32% per annum. Proceeds from
these loans were used by these executives to acquire the Company’s common shares on the open market. At December
31, 2001, $2,500 of the loans have been repaid. Addidonally, in 2001, the Company loaned $1,300 to certain exec-
utives. The loans bear interest at 6.32% per annum. If the executives continue to be employed by the Company, the
loans will be forgiven annually over five to ten year periods, as defined in the agreements. The annual loan forgiveness

of $160 is recorded as compensation expense.

NOTE 13. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The following disclosures of estimated fair value were determined by management using available market information
and appropriate valuation methodologies. Considerable judgment is necessary to interpret market data and develop
estimated fair value. Accordingly, the estimates presented herein are not necessarily indicative of the amounts the
Company could realize on disposition of the financial instruments. The use of different market assumptions and/or
estimation methodologies may have a material effect on the estimated fair value amounts.

Cash equivalents, rents, and accounts receivables, accounts pavable, accrued expenses, agreements, and other
liabilities are carried at amounts which reasonably approximate their fair values because of the short-term nature of
these investments. The fair value of fixed rate debt was approximately $847,563 (carrying value of $807,238) and the
fair value of floating rate debt approximated its carrying value due to the adjustable nature of the arrangements at
December 31, 2001.
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In order to manage the impact of interest rate changes on earnings and cash flow, the Company entered into
and has outstanding interest rate swap and interest rate cap arrangements. As more fully described in Note 1, the fair
values of these interest rate cap and interest rate swap agreements are carried on the consolidated balance sheet at
fair market value in accordance with SFAS No. 133. At December 31, 2001, the carrying amounts related to these
arrangements represented net liabilities totaling approximately $6,630.

Disclosure about fair value of financial instruments is based on pertinent information available to management
as of December 31, 2001. Although management is not aware of any factors that would significantly affect the reason-
able fair value amounts, such amounts have not been comprehensively revalued for purposes of these financial statements

since that date and current estimates of fair value may differ significantly from the amounts presented herein.

NOTE 14. SEGMENT INFORMATION

Segment Description

In accordance with SFAS No. 131, “Disclosure About the Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information,”
the Company presents segment information based on the way that management organizes the segments within the
enterprise for making operating decisions and assessing performance. The segment information is prepared on sub-
stantially the same basis as the internally reported information used by the Company’s chief operating decision makers
to manage the business.

The Company’s chief operating decision makers focus on the Company’s primary sources of income from
property rental operations. Property rental operations are broken down into five segments based on the various
stages in the property ownership lifecycle. These segments are described below. All other ancillary service and sup-
port operations, including the third-party service businesses (see Note 7), are aggregated in the accompanying
segment information.

= Fully stabilized communities — those apartment communities which have been stabilized (the earlier of
the point at which a property reaches 95% occupancy or one year after completion of construction) for both the
current and prior vear.

= Communities stabilized during 2000 — communities which reached stabilized occupancy in the prior year.

a Development and lease-up communities — those communities that are in lease-up but were not stabilized by
the beginning of the current year, including communities that stabilized during the current year.

= Communities held for sale — those communities that are being marketed for sale.

@ Sold communities - communities which were sold in the current or prior year.

Segment Performance Measure

Management uses contribution to funds from operations (“FFO”) as the performance measure for its segments.
Effective January 1, 2000, FFO is defined by the National Association of Real Estate Investment Trusts as net income
available to common shareholders determined in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”),
excluding gains (or losses) from debt restructuring and sales of property, plus depreciation of real estate assets, and
after adjustment for unconsolidated partnerships and joint ventures. FFO should not be considered as an alternative
to net income {determined in accordance with GAAP) as an indicator of the Company’s financial performance or to
cash flow from operating activities (determined in accordance with GAAP) as a measure of the Company’s liquidity,

nor is it necessarily indicative of sufficient cash flow to fund all of the Company’s needs.

Segment Information

The following table reflects each segment’s contribution to consolidated revenues and FFO together with a reconcil-
iation of segment contribution to FFO, total FFO, and income before extraordinary item and preferred dividends.
Additdonally, substantially all of the Company’s assets relate to the Company’s property rental operations. Asset cost,
depreciation, and amortization by segment are not presented because such information at the segment level is not

reported internally.
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2001 [ 2000 1999

Revenues
Fully stabilized communities ‘ $ 257,007 S 254,511 $ 240,561
Communities stabilized during 2000 46,237 39,556 14,863
Development and lease-up communities 44,607 18,315 5,754
Communities held for sale 6,278 6,132 5,885
Sold communities 13,381 46,751 53,181
Other 30,804 34,567 25,683
Consolidated revenues $ 398,314 $ 399,832 $ 345,927
Contribution to Funds from Operations
Fully stabilized communities 3 173,890 $ 176,410 $ 166,793
Communities stabilized during 2000 30,129 26,648 9.447
Development and lease-up communities 26,919 9,819 3,156
Communities held for sale 4,071 4,019 3,940
Sold communities ‘ 8,258 31,627 37,064
Other 1,065 2,157 1,657
Contribution to FFO 244,332 250,680 222,057
Other operating income, net of expense (8,048) (3,314) (2,652)
Depreciation on non-real estate assets (2,378) (2,405) (1,962)
Minority interest in consolidated property Partnerships 2,098 1,695 (511)
Project abandonment, employee severance and

impairment charges (17,450) (9,365) -
Interest expense (57,930) (50,303) (33,192)
Amortization of deferred loan costs (1,978) (1,636) (1,496)
General and administrative (13,745) (10,066) (7,788)
Dividends to preferred shareholders (11,768) (11,875) (11,875)
Total FFO 133,133 163,411 162,581
Depreciation on real estate assets (71,023) (66,283) {55,361)
Net gain (loss) on sale of assets 23,942 3,208 (1,522)
Minority interest of common unitholders in Operating Partnership (10,203) (11,691) (12,598)
Dividends to preferred shareholders 11,768 11,875 11,875
Income before cumulative effect of accounting change,

extraordinary item, and preferred dividends $ 87,617 $ 100,520 $ 104,975

NOTE 15. SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION

Non-cash investing and financing activities for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000, and 1999 are as follows:

(a) In 2001, 2000, and 1999, holders of 62,523, 12,014, and 22,299 Units in the Operating Partnership, respectively,
exercised their option to convert their Units to shares of the Company on a one-for-one basis. The net effect of
the capital allocated to the unitholders of the Operating Partnership on the dates of the offerings, the subsequent
conversion of Units of the Operating Partnership to shares of the Company, and the adjustments to minority inter-
est for the dilutive impact of the Dividend Reinvestment and Employee Stock Purchase Plans decreased minority
interest and increased shareholders’ equity in the amounts of $5,194, $320, and $857 for the years ended
December 31, 2001, 2000, and 1999, respectively.

{b) The Operating Partnership committed to distribute $32,741, $33,466, and $30,818 for the quarters ended
December 31, 2001, 2000, and 1999, respectively. As a result, the Company declared dividends of $28,748,
$29,528, and $27,184 for the quarters ended December 31, 2001, 2000, and 1999, respectively. The remaining
distributions from the Operating Partnership in the amount of $3,993, $3,938, and $3,634 for the quarters ended
December 31, 2001, 2000, and 1999, respectively, are distributed to minority interest unitholders in the
Operating Partnership.
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(Dollars in thousands except per shave data)
NOTE 16. QUARTERLY FINANCIAL INFORMATION (UNAUDITED)
Quarterly financial information for the years ended 2001 and 2000 are as follows:
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2001"
First Second Third Fourth

Revenues 102,583 $ 102,162 $ 99,119 53 94,450
Income before net gain (loss) on sale of assets,

other charges, minority interest of unitholders

in Operating Partnership, cumulative effect

of accounting change and extraordinary item 27,466 26,374 23,932 19,156
Net gain (loss) on sale of assets 111 15,660 8,179 (8)
Project abandonment, employee severance,

and impairment charges — — — (17,450)
Minority interest of preferred unitholders in

Operating Partnership (1,400) (1,400) (1,400) (1,400)
Minority interest of common unitholders in

Operating Partnership (2,729) (4,443) (3,322) 292
Cumulative effect of accounting change (613) -— — —
Extraordinary items — (77) — —
Net income 22,835 36,114 27,389 5920
Dividends to preferred shareholders (2,969) (2,969) (2,969) (2,862)
Net income (loss) available to common

shareholders 19,866 $ 33,145 $ 24,420 $ (2,272)
Earnings per common share:
Net income (loss) available to common

shareholders — basic 0.51 $ 0.86 $ 0.64 $ (0.06)
Net income (loss) available to common

sharcholders — diluted 0.51 $ 0.85 $ 0.64 $ (0.06)

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 20007
First Second Third Fourth

Revenues 95,443 $ 99,482 $ 101,342 $ 103,565
Income before net gain (loss) on sale of assets,

other charges and minority interest of

unitholders in Operating Partnership 31,965 33,734 30,676 27,593
Net gain (loss) on sale of assets 687 (19) 959 1,581
Project abandonment, employee severance

and impairment charges — — — {9,365)
Minority interest of preferred unitholders in

Operating Partnership (1,400) (1,400) (1,400) (1,400)
Minority interest of common unitholders in

Operating Partnership (3,321) (3,421) (3,156) (1,793)
Net income 27,931 28,894 27,079 16,616
Dividends to preferred shareholders (2,968) (2,969) (2,969) (2,969)
Net income available to common shareholders 24,963 $ 25,925 $ 24,110 $ 13,647
Earnings per common share:
Net income available to common

shareholders ~ basic 0.64 $ 0.66 3 0.61 $ 0.35
Net income available to common

shareholders — diluted 0.63 $ 0.65 $ 0.60 3 0.34
(1) The total of the four quarterly amounts for minority intevest of unitholders in Operating Partnership, extraordinary item, net income, and earnings

per share may not equal the total for the year. These diffevences vesult from the use of a weighted avevage to compute minority intevest in the Operating
Partnership and average number of shares ourstanding.
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Average December 2001 | 2001 Average
Year Unit Size Number Average Rental Economic

Communities Location™ Completed (Square Feer) of Units Rates Per Unit Occupancy®
Georgia
Post Ashford® Atlanta 1987 872 222 $ 890 96.4%
Post Briarcliff™ Atlanta 1999 1,034 688 1,146 95.3%
Post Bridge® Atlanta 1986 847 354 749 94.6%
Post Brookhaven® Atlanta 1990-1992# 990 735 1,037 94.6%
Post Canyon® Atlanta 1986 899 494 777 95.1%
Post Chase® Atlanta 1987 938 410 761 94.3%
Post Chastain® Atlanta 1990 965 558 1,042 93.9%
Post Collier Hills® Atlanta 1997 984 396 1,093 94.5%
Post Corners® Atlanta 1986 860 460 750 92.0%
Post Court® Atlanta 1988 838 446 728 94.3%
Post Crest® Atlanta 1996 1,069 410 1,072 93.1%
Post Crossing® Atlanta 1995 1,027 354 1,119 95.5%
Post Dunwoody® Atlanta 1989-1996* 1,010 530 1,022 95.4%
Post Gardens® Atlanta 1998 1,068 397 1,262 94.2%
Post Glen® Atlanta 1997 1,117 314 1,266 95.3%
Post Lane® Atlanta 1988 840 166 815 96.2%
Post Lenox Park® Atlanta 1995 1,030 206 1,141 94.3%
Post Lindbergh® Atlanta 1998 956 396 1,106 96.0%
Post Mill® Atlanta 1985 952 398 803 95.3%
Post Oak™ Atlanta 1993 1,003 182 1,110 95.9%
Post Oglethorpe® Atlanta 1994 1,218 250 1,342 93.5%
Post Park® Atlanta 19881990 912 770 866 95.7%
Post Parkside™ Adanta 2000 903 188 1,399 96.8%
Post Peachtree Hills® Atlanta 1992-1994@ 971 300 1,107 95.0%
Post Renaissance®® Atlanta 1992-1994* 903 342 1,057 94.8%
Post Ridge® Atdanta 1998 1,061 434 1,083 94.7%
Post Riverside™ Atlanta 1998 1,049 527 1,464 94.2%
Post Spring™ Atlanta 2000 977 452 1,050 N/A®
Post Stratford™ Atlanta 2000 1,607 250 1,278 89.8%
Post Summir® Atlanta 1990 957 148 979 94.7%
Post Valley® Atlanta 1988 854 496 753 95.1%
Post Village® Atlanta 803 95.7%

The Arbors 1983 1,063 301

The Fountains 1987 850 352

The Gardens 1986 891 494

The Hills 1984 953 241

The Meadows 1988 817 350
Post Vinings® Atlanta 1989-1991® 972 403 881 94.2%
Post Walk® Atdlanta 1984-1987% 927 476 890 94.6%
Post Woods® Atlanta 1977-1983% 1,057 494 978 93.9%

Subtotal /Average — Georgia 965 15,384 986 94.7%
Texas
Post Abbey™ Dallas 1996 1,275 34 1,972 95.5%
Post Addison Circle™ — Phase 1 Dallas 1998 895 460 991 91.7%
Post Addison Circle™ — Phase 11 Dallas 2000 898 610 1,058 90.3%
Post Addison Circle™ — Phase III Dallas 2000 806 264 922 N/A®
Post American Beauty Mill™ Dallas 1998 993 80 1,042 88.3%
Post Ascension® Dallas 1985-1995% 932 167 877 93.6%
Post Block 588™ Dallas 2000 1,570 127 1,778 82.2%
Post Cole’s Corners™ Dallas 1998 819 186 997 94.9%
Post Columbus Square™ Dallas 1996 863 218 1,153 95.3%
Post Commons™ Dallas 1985 645 158 812 98.4%
Post Gallery™ Dallas 1999 2,307 34 3,309 82.6%
Post Hackberry Creek® Dallas 1988-1996" 865 432 856 95.1%
Post Heights™ Dallas 1998-1999® 1,267 368 1,057 93.0%
Post Legacy Dallas 2000 843 384 895 N/A®
Post Meridian™ Dallas 1991 835 133 1,095 95.3%
Post Midtown Square™® Houston 1999-2000% 937 672 1,249 N/A®
Post Parkwood® Dallas 1962-1970® 889 96 1,024 98.2%
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Average December 2001 | 2001 Average
Year Unit Size Number Average Rental Econoniic

Communities Location” Completed (Square Feet) of Units Rates Per Unit Occupancy®
Texas (continued)
Post Residences™ Dallas 1986 776 196 1,063 95.8%
DPost Rice Lofts™ Houston 1998 964 309 1,494 | 93.6%
Post Town Lake® Dallas 1986-1987® 880 398 810 94.3%
Post Uptown Village™ Dallas 1995 767 300 946 96.3%
Post Uptown Village II Dallas 2000 730 196 846 92.1%
Post Vineyard™ Dallas 1996 733 116 970 95.9%
Post Vintage™ Dallas 1993 783 161 962 96.2%
Post West Avenue Lofts™ Austin 2000 858 239 1,332 N/A®
Post White Rock® Dallas 1988 660 207 804 96.3%
Post Wilson Building™ Dallas 1999 1,016 143 1,272 89.9%
Post Windhaven® Dallas 1991 885 474 734 N/A®
Post Worthington™ Dallas 1993 846 332 1,165 94.3%
Subtotal /Average — Texas 950 7,494 1,046 93.0%
Fiorida
Post Court® Tampa 1991 1,018 228 825 95.5%
Post Fountains at Lee Vista® Orlando 1988 835 508 688 95.5%
Post Harbour Place™ (I&II)*® Tampa 1999 942 525 1,173 N/A®
Post Hyde Park® Tampa 1996 970 389 1,099 95.9%
Post Lake® Orlando 1988 850 740 684 96.2%
Post Parkside™ Orlando 1999 873 245 1,116 94 .8%
Post Rocky Point® Tampa 1996-1998* 1,070 916 1,038 96.2%
Post Village® Tampa 764 94.2%

The Arbors 1991 967 304

The Lakes 1989 895 360

The Oaks 1991 968 336
Post Walk at Old Hyde Park Village Tampa 1997 889 134 1,298 97.2%
Subtotal /Average — Florida 934 4,685 907 95.6%
Arizona
Post Roosevelt Square Phoenix 2000 836 403 838 N/A®)
Virginia
Post Corners at Trinity Centre Fairfax 1996 1,027 336 1,258 97.3%
Post Forest® Fairfax 1990 888 364 1,183 96.8%
Subtotal /Average — Virginia 958 700 1,219 97.1%
North Carolina
Post Gateway Place™ I Charlotte 2000 698 232 865 N/A®
Post Park at Phillips Place® Charlotte 1998 1,136 402 1,219 91.0%
Post Uptown Place Charlotte 2000 800 227 1,019 N/AR)
Subtotal /Average — North Carolina 878 861 1,071 91.0%
Colorado
Post Uptown Square™ Denver 1999-2001® 847 449 1,871 N/A®
Tennessee
Post Bennie Dillion™ Nashville 1999 714 86 974 97.4%
Total 885 30,062 1,008 94.5%
(1) Refers to greater metropolitan arveas of cities indicated. i
(2) Average economic occupancy is defined as gross potential vent less vacancy losses, model expenses, and bad debt divided by gross potential rent

for the period, expressed as a percentage.
(3) During 2001, this community or a phase in this community was in lease-up and, thevefore, is not included
(4) These dates represent the vespective completion dates for multiple phases of a community.
(5) The Company has a leasehold interest in the land underlying Post Renaissance pursuant to a ground lease that expives on January 1, 2040.
(6) These communities are comprised of two phases. Only the first phase of each of these communities is stabilized as of February 3, 2001.
(7) Post Windhaven™ is curvently under rebab.
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The Company has under construction or in initial lease-up eight new communities and additions to two existing

communities that will contain an aggregate of 2,604 units upon completion. The Company’s communities under

development or in initial lease-up are summarized in the following table:

Estimated Estimated Estimated
: Quarter of | Quarter of | Quarter of
No. of Construction | First Units Stabilized
Metropolitan Area Units Start Available Occupancy
Wholly Owned Construction/Lease-up Communities
Charlotte, NC
Post Gateway Place I 204 3Q°00 4Q 01 1Q 03
Tampa, FL
Post Harbour Place 111 259 2Q°01 2Q°02 2Q 03
Denver, CO
Post Uptown Square 1T 247 1Q 00 4Q 01 1Q 03
Greater Washington Area
Post Pentagon Row 504 2Q 99 2Q°01 4Q 02
Post Massachusetts Avenue 269 2Q°01 1Q 03 4Q 03
773
Subtotal Wholly Owned Construction/Lease-up Communities 1,483
Co-Investment Construction/Lease-up Communities
Atlanta, GA
Post Peachtree'? 121 2Q°00 3Q°01 3Q’02
Post Biltmoret? 276 3Q 00 4Q 01 1Q 03
397
New York, NY
Post Luminaria® 138 3Q°01 3Q’02 2Q 03
Post Toscana' 199 1Q 02 2Q°03 2Q°04
337
Pasadena, CA
Post Paseo Colorado™® 387 2Q°00 2Q°02 2Q 03
Subtotal Co-Investment Construction/Lease-up Communities 1,121
Construction Totals 2,604

(1) These communities arve being developed as a joint venture (Post equity ownership is 35 percent).

(2) This development is structured as a foint ventuve, with Post and The Clarert Group contributing approximately 70% of the equity and a
landowner contvibuting the balance.

(3) This development is structuved as a joint venture, with Post and The Clavett Group. Post will contribute substantially all of the capital to the
Joint venture.

(4) Increase in cost velated to upgrading the planned apartment unit finishes.

Post Properties, Inc. 55




SHA R’E_H"b LD E R INFORMATION

Corporate Headguarters

Post Properties, Inc.

One Riverside

4401 Northside Parkway, Suite 800
Atlanta, Georgia 30327-3057
Telephone: 404-846-5000

Web site: www.postproperties.com

General Counsel

King & Spalding

191 Peachtree Street

Atlanta, Georgia 30303-1763

Transfer Agent and Dividend
Disbursing Agent

Equiserve Trust Company

Post Office Box 43012

Providence, Rhode Island 02940-3011
Shareholder Inquiries: 1-800-633-4236

www.equiserve.com

Aunditors
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
50 Hurt Plaza, Suite 1700
Atlanta, Georgia 30303

Additional Information

News media representatives and analysts, investors,

and others seeking information should visit our web
site at www.postproperties.com and click on the site map
located on the home page. Scroll down the site map to
Financial /Investor Information for news releases, finan-

cial data, and other material relating to the Company.

SEC Form 10-K

Copies of Post Properties, Inc.’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission will be furnished without charge upon

written request to Sherry W. Cohen.
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Annunl Meeting

Post Properties, Inc. will hold its Annual Shareholders’
meeting at 9:00 A.M., local time, on May 23, 2002, at
Post Properties, Inc., One Riverside, 4401 Northside
Parkway, Suite 800, Atlanta, Georgia 30327-3057.

Stock Trading Information
The common shares of Post Properties, Inc. trade on

the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol PPS.

Quarterly Stock Price Information

Quarter Ended High Low
2000

First Quarter $ 40.31 $ 36.50
Second Quarter 46.09 39.94
Third Quarter 46.75 42.03
Fourth Quarter 38.25 33.94
2001

First Quarter $ 3925 $ 35.00
Second Quarter 39.15 35.20
Third Quarter 38.95 35.76
Fourth Quarter 37.08 32.50

On March 20, 2002, the last reported sale price of
Common Stock on the NYSE was $34.41 per share.

Common Shareholders of Recovd/

Common Shares Outstanding

As of March 20, 2002, Post Properties, Inc. had
approximately 1,734 common sharcholders of record

and 36,871,554 shares of Common Stock outstanding.
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